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ABOUT
AP RENTALS

B R R R

We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with the capability of providing a wide
range of construction, E&M engineering and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-
related solutions and value-added services to our customers. We serve a diverse range of customers
including leading construction and E&M engineering companies and large scale event and entertainment
companies. Our rental equipment principally covers power and energy equipment, high-reach
equipment, material handling equipment and other equipment (include lifting, earth moving, foundation,
road and transportation, tunneling, demolition and small equipment).

TRAMERBFENELRBLEARB AR ARNATPREHSASEEE BETRERHAR
IR - REBLEMERERT RIIEERY - RARSEABRERKETRRARARAZE B MR
LRRETABBHOTPRERS HERBIECRHHIERRE SETERE  WHEER
BREMRE(BEEE - £ TR R BERE BB FER/DERE) -




§ TAPPOWER @ 2170863




CORPORATE INFORMATION

o3 R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors:

Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Lau Tsz Fung (appointed on 1 April 2024)

Non-executive Director:
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Siu Chak Yu
Li Ping Chi

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Li Ping Chi (Chairman)

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Siu Chak Yu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Siu Chak Yu (Chairman)

Li Ping Chi

Lau Pong Sing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Wong Cheuk Man

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Lau Pong Sing
Wong Cheuk Man

COMPANY SECRETARY
Wong Cheuk Man (HKICPA, ACCA)

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
35th Floor, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

4 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

BEEg

HITES

2B (E )

BRRIE

2758 (R2024F4 B 1 HEERT)

FHITES:
FERR

BYFHTES:
(BFEER
FET
FRE

BERERE
FIRE (L)
G2z
wmzs

U ES SR
BET(ER)
TR
217K

REZERE
B (£ /)
mzs
TR

EREEESS
BIFBRK (/)
BRR1E

ITEH

RERR
BIFBAK
T8

NAEIME
F S5 (HKICPA ~ ACCA)

= EED

=g . FEER S ST
HEDEAD

M Fl 2 B R AZ EAT
BB

& §E 8 88 5%
KEES— B35



CORPORATE INFORMATION
o3 A E R

LEGAL ADVISER

As to Hong Kong Law
Deacons

5th Floor, Alexandra House
18 Chater Road, Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit 806A, 8th Floor,

Tower ll, South Seas Centre,

No. 75 Mody Road,

Kowloon

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1496

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.apholdingshk.com

EEREER
EHEERBEE
KT AT
B
FIRIEITIE 1855
BLRKES#E

TEARBIT
R ERITARAA
B LSELRTERAA

RGOBFEELERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

BEERNDBFELD R
EARRESBRARAA
B

AP I712E 17165048

BRI E Y

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

EREENBEETELEEMY
BB

e

JEE 3038 75 5%

FER O

81 806A FE

IR A7 5%

1496

DA

www.apholdingshk.com

TEAREZERER DA /2024 FF3R

514


www.apholdingshk.com







CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

£

Chairman; Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director
Mr. Lau Pong Sing

BIFRRELE
EE - TBRBARNTEF

8 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the “Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year" or
"FY2024").

For FY2024, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$174.1
million, representing an increase of approximately 8.4% as compared to
that of approximately HK$160.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023
(“FY2023"). The Group recorded a profit for the Year of approximately
HKS$10.4 million (FY2023: a profit of approximately HK$12.8 million). Please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
(“MD&A") for details of the Group's business performance for FY2024. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which summarizes our effort
and performance in promoting and strengthening corporate social
responsibility among the Group during the Year is published separately.

In the FY2024, Chinese economic development was still hit by a number of
factors, such as the default of debts of giant property developers and the
slumping of the property market. However, it also experienced an increase in
demands in some manufacturing sections which has mitigated the adverse
effect of the property market on the economy. The economy of Hong Kong,
as Hong Kong is part and one of the special administrative regions of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), was also affected by it. The property
price of Hong Kong was tumbling in FY2024 despite there was some degrees
of rebound after certain restrictions on Hong Kong property sales were
scrapped by the HKSAR Government on 28 February 2024. These inevitably
affected the economic sentiment of Hong Kong in FY2024. Nevertheless, the
Group still recorded a growth in leasing business in Hong Kong, Macau and
Singapore. For construction and its related industries, there were still some
demands from various projects in Hong Kong, including but not limited to
the Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop, improvement work and the third
runway construction projects conducted in the Hong Kong International
Airport, and Central Kowloon Route despite the fact that (i) the demands in
leasing equipment in the Kai Tak Area decreased in FY2024 since projects in
that area are approaching to completion; and (ii) the Group also no longer
has leasing income being generated from the Mobile Cabin Hospital in the
Community Isolated Facilities in FY2024, which was recorded in FY2023 due
to the Covid-19 pandemic. For the event industries in Hong Kong, the Group
recorded a large increase in leasing income for the leasing equipment due to
the HKSAR Government trying to boost Hong Kong's economy in FY2024.
Obviously, the increase in leasing income of the Group in Hong Kong might
be greatly contributed by our application of the concept of the Smart System
in Mobile Electricity ("SSME"). However, the interest rates as induced by the
Federal Reserve System of the United States still remained high and the
Russia-Ukraine military conflict have continuously dampened the global
economy in FY2024.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ESViE &

Nevertheless, the Group has a belief on the advanced and new
technologies, the use of which will strengthen the businesses of the Group
in long run. The Group has continuously provided more value-added
services to the customers so as to enrich and to enhance the customers’
experience and benefits in using our products in last few years and will
continue such strategies in the near future. The Group has several major
goals of product developments, which are Comprehensive Digitization,
Environmental Friendly and Artificial Intelligence; as well as the “green
concept’, including but not limited to, providing some raw data related to
the emission from the equipment leased by the customers, use of biofuels
and provision of more efficient, reliable and cost-effective modes in
providing electricity to the customers. These strategies will be gradually
implemented by the Group in coming years. As such, the Group will
continuously invest on advanced technologies, both on hardware and
software in the coming years.

In FY2024, Group recorded remarkable growth in revenues and net profit
in Singapore via AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited ("AP
Singapore”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, due to the
continuing booming in the economy in Singapore. The Group will
continuously invest in Singapore by providing more products for leasing in
Singapore and will increase the trading business in Singapore and in the
South-East Asian countries in the year ending 31 March 2025 ("FY2025").

Obviously, the Group will also continue to adopt prudent financial
management, cost control measures and explore suitable business and/or
investment opportunities to drive its business growth and to maximize the
returns for its shareholders (the “Shareholders”).

10 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

BEMU - NEEE LR RMEBED - B
REME - &MELRMS s ANEBaER -
AEBERERF EARFRHEEZEER
B AEEREFEFEARMEROER LK
g WA N ARG RAE B HETT B LRS- AEH
BZEEMERER  2EBFL  BERA
TEE: UWRIZefis]  BRETRREHR—
LEE S HEREH RN RGEE  ERE
MBI RREERY  IERAKAMGENES
BRAEEP - AEEBRAREFANEHE S
LESRRE © Bt REEBRARBEFHBERER
SRR - BIRREF LT o

20248 EFE - RTINS AR/ EEDH
B AEBEBARARAREZEWNERQAAP
Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited ([ AP
Singapore | ) 7£ ¥ 3% 8515 Y ai T 40 ) 6 B8 35 45
Ko REEBRHEENINERE - BHEZRH
IR ERMER - WHEZE2025F3H31H (2025
FHBRFEE]IGMERMNERREEERNE S
£

B AEBENTSEERNEENOPEEERK
AEGIER ARREBENEB R, LIREH
T B EEBERMAERR(TIRR]) R
= INEIE &



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the Board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our Shareholders. | would also like to
thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
support. We will continue to fortify AP Rental’s leadership in the equipment
leasing industry and in acting as a comprehensive solution provider for the
customers, thus realizing sustainable growth and generating satisfactory
returns for Shareholders.

To reward and thank our Shareholders for their support, the Board
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.60 cent per share
(FY2023: a final dividend of HKO0.65 cent per share).

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
26 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision
of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For the
year ended 31 March 2024 ("FY2024"), the Group recorded a net profit,
which amounted to approximately HK$10.4 million (for the year ended 31
March 2023 ("FY2023"): net profit amounting to approximately HK$12.8
million). The decrease of net profit is mainly attributable to the net effect
of:

1. Despite the fact that the Group recorded an increase in leasing
income of equipment in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore, the
Group recorded a decrease in leasing income of equipment in two
areas in Hong Kong in FY2024, which was (i) the decrease in demand
for leasing of equipment from the construction works in the Kai Tak
area, including but not limited to the Kai Tak Sports Park project (the
“Kai Tak Area”); and (ii) there was leasing income of leasing
equipment amounting to approximately HK$7.6 million, which was
related to the construction and operation of the community isolation
facilities (the “Community Isolated Facilities”), which were built
and operated by the Hong Kong government due to the Covid-19
pandemic in FY2023, but there was no such leasing income
generated in FY2024;

2. No government subsidies were received from the governments of
Hong Kong and Macau in FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$2.3
million in the case of Hong Kong and approximately MOP0.5 million
in the case of Macau, which was equivalent to approximately HK$0.5
million, which were both related to the Covid-19 pandemic in
FY2023 and represented the wage subsidies provided by the
governments of Hong Kong and Macau for supporting the
employment and helping business tide over financial difficulties due
to the Covid-19 pandemic);

3. Decrease in gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment from
approximately HK$8.2 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$2.5
million in FY2024 since the Group has disposed of the aged trucks
with a gain of approximately HK$2.3 million in FY2023, which
contributed to a major part of the gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment in FY2023, while the Group recorded losses in
disposal of two leasing trucks amounting to approximately HKS1.4
million in FY2024;

12 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

SEBE

RNEBB S BIRHERE D HIARE R & X1
BERY AEERFPREEELRE - #E 2024
F3IANALEFE([2024FHREE]) - AEE
RN I04B BB T(HE2023F3A31H
IEFE (2023 FBBREE]) : MK 128885
T) o WRIR A EBARRATHEREME

1. BEAKEREBES BFIRIINEMHER
HREW ARSI - R 2024 F B R F
o AEBESBUNESMELEORE
MEWARD - RAAORERE(25FER
TRABEREREE) ((REEE]) &%
TREOREREST TR &) BHERE
HEKRANB76EEET  BEBBTR
2023 F B BN F 5 X P& Covid-199% 16 B [
EEMOT EREHRRE(HERBRE])E
BREEER ER204FYRFELE
EXE@EAERA

2. FR204FHHFEILE 2023 FHBFE
Y Covid-19 7% 15 M1 & 75 1208 PTBR UR B IR
QOB FMBEE : 238 BB T
(BREBME ) 405 A EMPI T (BB
mE HERLSEEBIT)  ZMehE
HEASMEMBNRHEMNTERR  AX
FERt 2 R Bh (& ¥ 5 Covid-199% 18 B E
BET TS EERS) ¢

3. HEWE - B REE W B 2023 F IR
FEN2BBATRL E204FHHREE
H25EBBT  REAAEBMN 2023 F8f
BREELHEMRERENREN23EEH
TC o A 2023F M IREE HEWME -

REWFTELD - R ARERER2024
FHHRFESHSHEMEHERENEE
ORI i



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
I o ST

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

4.

The provision of the long service payment for the staff of the Group
in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2024, amounting to approximately
HKS$1.7 million, due to the change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund — Long Service
Payment ("LSP") offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong (for details,
please refer to note 2 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this report);

Increase in staff costs from approximately HK$56.9 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$61.2 million in FY2024, which were mainly due
to increase in the wage of operators due to the increase in demand
from equipment operating services; and annual salary increment for
the staff of the Group so as to keep abreast of the human resources
market in Hong Kong and in Singapore;

Recording a share of loss incurred amounting to approximately
HKS$2.9 million in FY2024 by a joint venture company with limited
liability, Wing Hing-APE Solutions JV Limited (the “WAJV"), in which
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, AP
Equipment Solutions Limited has subscribed for 50% of the shares of
WAJV amounting to HKS$2.5 million;

Exchange losses, net amounting to approximately HK$0.3 million
was recorded in FY2024 (FY2023: exchange gains, net of
approximately HKS$1.7 million, recorded in FY2023 for the purchase
of leasing machines which were recorded as account payables in
Euro and Japanese Yen. Euro and Japanese Yen depreciated in
FY2023); and

Reversal of the impairment losses under expected credit loss model
recognised on lease receivables and trade receivables, net ("ECL
Provision”) amounting to approximately HK$1.7 million in FY2024
(FY2023: impairment losses under ECL Provision, approximately
HK$3.9 million due to increase in ECL Provision made under
individual assessment for some accounts receivables related to the
customers working for projects on the 3rd Runway and under
collective assessment for remaining customers due to the increase in
expected default risk, which might be caused by the increase in
interest rates and inflation rates globally) due to the fact the recovery
rates improved in FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

‘& PEL R R i L0

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

For FY2024, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$174.1
million, representing an increase of approximately 8.4% as compared to
that of approximately HK$160.6 million for FY2023. For FY2024, the Group
recorded gross profit of approximately HK$52.0 million, representing an
increase of approximately 15.6% as compared to that of approximately
HK$45.0 million for FY2023. The gross profit margin for FY2024 was
approximately 29.9% (FY2023: approximately 28.0%). Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review" of this report for further details of the
Group's performance in FY2024. The performance of the Group in FY2024
reflects the importance of the equipment rentals and the provision of
related value-added services.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$10.4
million in FY2024 (Profit attributable to owners of the Company in FY2023:
approximately HK$12.8 million).

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2024
was HK1.20 cent (Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company for FY2023: HK1.48 cent).

KSEHME @

R204FHHEE  REEHKBREN17418
BETL B20RFHHREEMNRIZNI606EE
HETTIEINA)8.4% o A 2024 FF I N E - AN EE 5%
BEMOS20B8EETT  B20BFHHREENE
FK) 450 B BB TTIEANKD 15.6% ° 2024 FHIBFE
B E R KL B209%Q03FHHRFE: &
28.0%) ° B BN B 2024 F B F B RIRAHE
— G BLHARE[MEOE] —& - K
EER 2024 FHRFEHNRERRBERE RIR
HAARSERENEZE -

2024 FEI B - NABIHEA AEMERG A
104 B 8B TTQ03FHRFEARRIES AEMN
GaA A28 EEBBTT) ©

204 FH M FEOARREEAEBEERERR
FAE1208 1L Q03 FIBFE RN RIES AR
I EREREF) - 1487() -

GROSS PROFIT NET PROFIT
EF R
(HK$'000) (HK$'000)
S % S %
s 28.0% oo 300/0 (;Efojot) 90/o
0
100,000 »AD A ? ' 80%
16,000 A
80,000 6.0% o
0
60,000 12,000 A
15%
40,000 8,000
' 12,776 3%
45019 52042 10364
20,000 4,000
0 0% 0 0%
31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024
202363 A31H 2024F3A31H 202353 A31R° 2024%3A31H
For the financial year ended For the financial year ended
BEU L AHIEBAFE EZU I RFE
I Gross Profit [ Gross Profit Margin I NetProfit I NetProfit Margin
ER ERME il kS

4 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2024, the equipment demands for leasing of equipment and the
leasing income increased. However, the Group still recorded a decrease in
leasing income in two areas, which was: (i) the decrease in leasing income
for leasing equipment in the Kai Tak Area in FY2024; and (ii) no leasing
income being generated from the Mobile Cabin Hospital in the
Community Isolated Facilities in FY2024 as mentioned under the section
headed “Group Overview” of this report. However, leasing income of the
Group in other construction projects and other building works in Hong
Kong increased, including but not limited to the Development of Lok Ma
Chau Loop, improvement work and the third runway construction projects
conducted in the Hong Kong International Airport, and Central Kowloon
Route (a highway project under construction that runs through the
Kowloon Peninsula, which is largely underground) (the “T2-CKR"). The
Group has also recorded a material increase in leasing income related to its
event business in Hong Kong due to the HKSAR Government trying to
boost Hong Kong's economy in FY2024. These increases have override the
negative effect in leasing income as stated in points (i) and (ii) above. In
addition, the Group recorded significant increase in leasing income with
compact lifting solution strategies in Singapore in FY2024. That is why the
Group overall still recorded a growth in leasing income despite the
decrease or loss of leasing income as stated in above points (i) and (ii).

In addition, the Group increased its business activities for providing better
and comprehensive solutions in the provision of power to the market
using the concept of the Smart System in Mobile Electricity ("SSME") and
for the provision of green-related solutions (for instance, the provision of
biofuel generators) through the Company’s indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, AP Power Limited (“AP Power"). This aims at increasing the
professionalism in Mobile Power Supply for various industries of the
Group's services in leasing and the provision of solutions to the market,
which has made its contribution in fostering the increase in leasing income
in FY2024.

For the trading business, the Group recorded an increase in revenues for
both machinery trading and parts sales when comparing with those in
FY2023. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in
parts sales for the customers in the PRC.

For Macau, the demands in leasing equipment increased slightly and so
the leasing revenue of AP Equipment Leasing and Engineering Limited
("AP Macau’), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
increased when compared to that of FY2023 due to the fact that the
demand from event business in Macau increased in FY2024. In addition,
the Group still recorded increase in demand from construction sites related
to public work especially the building and infrastructure projects from the
new reclaimed land in Macau Peninsula, which is the focus of the Group in
Macau from 2023 onwards.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

For Singapore, AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited ("AP
Singapore”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, recorded strong
increase in revenues in leasing of equipment and operating service income
in FY2024 because the construction industry in Singapore continues its
growth due to the booming of its economy in FY2024.

For the PRC, due to the debt crisis triggered by some giant property
developers, 3518 & TIE#M (%) AR 2 &) (AP Rentals (Shanghai)
Limited®), ("AP Shanghai"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has recorded a decrease in the revenue from the leasing of
equipment. However, AP Shanghai also focused on the disposal of its
equipment locally and overseas in FY2024.

Lastly, for WAJV, the projects which WAJV is involved in have mostly been
completed as at 31 March 2024.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Financial Review” of this
report.

PROSPECT

Even after the Covid-19 pandemic tapered off and the cross-border
activities of Hong Kong resumed, the degrees of economy rebound in
Hong Kong and the PRC were still not up to expectation. However, the
Group will continue its investment and promotion of equipment, serving
the concept of the green energy in the financial year ending 31 March
2025 ("FY2025").

In Hong Kong, the Group will expedite its investment in the green mobile
power supplies and its related services with SSME system in FY2025, which
will be packaged as the ultimate solution for the customers in green power
supplies that also addresses the increasing concerns from the community
on environmental protection and social responsibilities aspects. The Group
will provide more value-added services to the customers relating to three
major goals of product developments, which are Comprehensive
Digitization, Environmental Protection and Artificial Intelligence; as well as
the “green concept”, including but not limited to, providing some raw data
related to the emission from the machines leased by the customers, use of
biofuels and provision of more efficient, reliable and cost-effective modes
in providing electricity to the customers. AP Power will implement these
strategies in the coming years. The Group will increasingly focus on
machinery trading overseas and the disposal of aged leasing equipment in
FY2025.

* Foridentification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECT (Continued)

In Macau, AP Macau will continue to focus on government related work
and special event and entertainment activities so as to increase the leasing
revenues in the coming months.

For the PRC, the Group will closely monitor the effects of the debt crisis
related to the construction industry in the PRC in the coming months. In
order to improve the revenues and cash inflow of AP Shanghai, the Group
will try to increase the machinery sales and dispose more of its leasing
equipment.

The economy in Singapore is booming. The Group would try its best to
maintain the increasing trend in its revenues with the compact lifting
solution strategies and may consider making further investment in the
leasing equipment, including the introduction of more product types for
AP Singapore, so as to cater for the increasing demands for leasing
equipment in Singapore in FY2025.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For FY2024, the Group recorded an increase in revenue of approximately
HK$13.5 million, with the total revenue amounting to approximately
HK$174.1 million for FY2024, representing an increase of approximately
8.4% as compared to that of approximately HK$160.6 million for FY2023.
The increase in revenue mainly resulted from the increase in all segments
of business of the Group.

(i) Leasing of equipment
During the period under review, the Group’s leasing income from
rental services, which involved the rental of construction, electrical
and mechanical engineering and event and entertainment
equipment in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and Singapore, increased
to approximately HK$114.5 million in FY2024 as compared to that of
approximately HK$111.9 million in FY2023.

As mentioned above, the revenue attributable to the Group's rental
business increased in FY2024 due to the increase in demands from
the construction work and event business as disclosed in the section
headed “Business Overview" of this report.

Leasing income of equipment accounted for approximately 65.8% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2024 (FY2023: approximately 69.7%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

18

Operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services by providing
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the job sites of its
customers. For FY2024, revenue from equipment operating services
increased by approximately 26.0% to approximately HK$22.1 million
(FY2023: approximately HK$17.6 million), and accounted for
approximately 12.7% of the Group's total revenue for FY2024
(FY2023: approximately 10.9%). The increase in operating services
income for FY2024 was attributable to the fact that the demand of
leasing equipment in Hong Kong and Singapore increased,
especially for those equipment which required operators to operate
and the demand for its related equipment operating services in
Hong Kong and Singapore also increased accordingly.

Other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair and maintenance, delivery and
installation services during the rental period, recorded an increase
and amounted to approximately HK$12.6 million for FY2024 (FY2023:
approximately HK$10.6 million). The Group's other service income
accounted for approximately 7.2% of the Group's total revenue for
FY2024 (FY2023: approximately 6.6%). The increase was mainly
contributed by the large increase in repair and maintenance services
income.

Sales of machinery and spare parts

The revenue from sales of machinery and spare parts increased by
approximately 21.3% from approximately HK$20.5 million for FY2023
to approximately HK$24.9 million for FY2024 mainly due to large
increase in sales of spare parts and an increase in sales of machinery.

The Group's sales of machinery and spare parts accounted for
approximately 14.3% of the Group’s total revenue for FY2024
(FY2023: approximately 12.8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales and Services

The Group's cost of sales and services amounted to approximately
HK$122.0 million for FY2024, representing a period-on-period increase of
approximately 5.6% (FY2023: approximately HK$115.5 million). Cost of sales
and services mainly comprised machinery hiring expenses, staff costs for
the Group's equipment operators, technicians and truck drivers, costs for
machinery and parts for trading and depreciation.

The Group invested on leasing equipment through purchases of leasing
equipment, amounting to approximately HK$28.0 million in FY2024.
However, the Group has also increased the disposal of some leasing
equipment with lower utilisation rates during FY2024 and that some
equipment have been fully depreciated in FY2024, so the depreciation cost
in FY2024 decreased to approximately HK$44.2 million (FY2023:
approximately HK$51.0 million). Staff costs under the cost of sales and
services increased by approximately HK$4.7 million mainly due to the
increase of wage and number of the operators for operating the leasing
equipment since the demand for operating service increased in FY2024.
The provision of LSP has also increased the cost of sales and services by
approximately HK$1.3 million in FY2024 (FY2023: nil). Costs for machinery
and parts increased by approximately 5.6% due to the increase in cost of
the machinery in FY2024.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's overall gross profit increased by approximately 15.6% from
approximately HK$45.0 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$52.0 million
for FY2024 and the Group's gross profit margin was approximately 29.9%
for FY2024 (FY2023: approximately 28.0%). The increase in gross profit
margin was mainly due to the net effect of: (i) the decrease in gross profit
margin in trading business in FY2024; (ii) the increase of wage; (iii) the
effect of provision of LSP; but (iv) there was an increase in revenue of the
leasing of equipment; and (v) the relevant depreciation expense was
reduced in FY2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately HK$3.2
million in FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$5.0 million), which
represented a decrease of approximately 35.2% from FY2023. The decrease
was due to the fact that no government subsidies were received from the
governments of Hong Kong and Macau related to the Covid-19 pandemic
in FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$2.8 million, which represent the
wage subsidies provided by the government of Hong Kong (in the amount
of approximately HK$2.3 million) and the government of Macau (in the
amount of approximately MOP0.5 million which is equivalent to
approximately HK$0.5 million) for supporting the employment and helping
business tide over financial difficulties due to the Covid-19 pandemic). The
Group also recorded an interest income from bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$2.6 million in FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$0.5
million) due to increase in cash balances in FY2024 and increase in interest
rates for fixed deposits in Hong Kong.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million in
FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$9.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 77.8% over FY2023. The Group recorded exchange losses,
net of approximately HK$0.3 million in FY2024 (FY2023: exchange gains,
net of approximately HK$ 1.7 million, which was caused by the depreciation
of Japanese Yen and Euro against Hong Kong Dollar recorded in account
payables in FY2023). The Group also recorded a decrease in gain on
disposal of property, plant and equipment from approximately HK$8.2
million in FY2023 to approximately HK$2.5 million in FY2024 due to the fact
that all aged trucks were disposed of in FY2023, which contributed to a
gain on disposal for approximately HK$2.3 million in FY2023 while the
Group recorded losses on disposal of leasing trucks amounting to
approximately HK$1.4 million in FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Reversal of Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss
Model Recognised on Lease Receivables and Trade
Receivables, Net and the Impairment Losses Recognised on
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

As at 31 March 2024, the recovery rates of receivables improved. The
impairment losses under ECL Provision for the Group reversed by
approximately HK$1.7 million in FY2024 (FY2023: impairment losses under
ECL Provision of approximately HK$3.9 million). For details, please refer to
the section headed “Group Overview" of this report.

The Group has recognised impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, net amounting to approximately HK$0.1 million in FY2024
(FY2023: approximately HKS$0.7 million, which was made for the provision
for impairment for the leasing equipment used in the sites in the 3rd
Runway).

Administrative Expenses

For FY2024, administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$39.8
million (FY2023: approximately HK$37.7 million), representing an increase
of approximately 5.7% over that of FY2023. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase in the staff costs of the Group
(excluding those staff costs stated under the section headed “Cost of Sales
and Services” of this report) due to annual review and promotion. The
provision of LSP also increased the administrative expenses in FY2024 by
approximately HK$0.6 million (FY2023: nil).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For FY2024, selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HKS$1.2 million (FY2023: approximately HK$0.6 million). The increase was
due to the promotion of the concept of “green energy” towards the
market.

Finance Cost

Finance costs mainly comprised interest on the Group’s borrowings and
lease liabilities, which amounted to approximately HK$1.7 million in FY2024
(FY2023: approximately HK$1.5 million). The increase in finance costs was
due to the increase in borrowings in FY2024 for financing of the investment
in leasing equipment and trucks made during FY2024 (approximately
HK$1.5 million) when comparing to the borrowings in FY2023
(approximately HK$ 1.3 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for FY2024

The Group recorded profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$10.4 million for FY2024 (FY2023: profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$12.8 million), representing a
profit margin of approximately 6.0% (FY2023: profit margin of
approximately 8.0%). The decrease in profit attributable to owners of the
Company in FY2024 was due to the reasons stated under the section
headed “Group Overview" of this report. The total comprehensive income
for FY2024 was approximately HK$9.8 million (FY2023: total comprehensive
income was approximately HK$11.9 million).

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2024 primarily comprised
expenditures on leasing machinery, vehicles and office equipment,
amounting to a total of approximately HK$30.4 million (for the year ended
31 March 2023: approximately HK$44.7 million). The vast majority of the
capital expenditures were used to fund the expansion of the Group's
owned rental fleet and trucks, which accounted for approximately 98.1% of
the total capital expenditure of the Group for FY2024.

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash
balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$93.7 million (as at 31
March 2023: approximately HK$74.6 million) that were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen, Euro, Macau Pataca ("MOP"),
Singapore Dollars, United States Dollars and Chinese Yuan, and had
borrowings and lease liabilities of approximately HK$42.7 million (as at 31
March 2023: approximately HK$42.3 million) that were denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HK$85.4 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$87.8 million), of
which approximately HK$57.1 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$35.3 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$28.3
million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$52.5 million) were
unutilised.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (as at 31 March
2023: nil), which was calculated based on the net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the interest bearing liabilities,
which include borrowings, bank overdraft, lease liabilities, minus the cash
and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and
expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which are
different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong Kong
Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Euro, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States Dollars. Payments
received by the Group from its customers are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars, MOP, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States
Dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures during FY2024.

Significant Investments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant investments.

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$19.8 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$13.1 million) to
acquire leasing equipment and trucks for the Group.

The acquisition of leasing equipment and trucks will be funded by the
Group's internal resources and the banking facilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HKS$3.0 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$3.0
million), leasing equipment and trucks of approximately HK$4.5 million as
at 31 March 2024 (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$4.4 million), and
bank deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$38.4 million (as at 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$31.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Segment Information

Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed in notes 5(a)
and 5(b) of the notes to financial statements of this report.

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 133 employees (as at 31 March 2023:
127 employees), of which 120 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2023: 117 employees), 4 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2023: 4 employees), 6 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March 2023: 3
employees) and 3 employees were in PRC (as at 31 March 2023: 3
employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with
reference to the market information and individual performance and will
be reviewed on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the
Group also provides medical insurance, makes contributions to provident
funds and provides other benefits to the employees. The total staff costs
including remuneration, other benefits and contributions to retirement
schemes for the directors of the Company and other staff of the Group for
FY2024 amounted to approximately HK$61.2 million (FY2023:
approximately HK$56.9 million). The increase in staff costs was mainly due
to the increase in headcount of operators and annual salary review of the
staff.

The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
that they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.

Share Option Scheme

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to eligible employees of
the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of the adoption of the
Scheme and up to 31 March 2024, no share option has been granted or
agreed to be granted under the Scheme.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SU

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFERHERE

For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A831HLFE

MMARY
T4 5

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHT FHET FHET
Results ES
Revenue Wz
Leasing income of equipment HEZHEA 111,876 97,436 101,873 101,691
Sales of machinery and parts B RS HEE 20,498 17,757 27,523 27,594
Operating service income BRAERBEUA 17,575 12,365 12,777 8388
Other service income Hap s A 10,603 7,240 6,277 8114
160,552 134,798 148,450 145,787
Gross profit EH 45,019 20,593 18,487 16,090
Other income HUA 4986 784 6,576 2,508
Other gains H s 9913 9,443 5,966 4,965
(Impairment losses) reversal of EHRYE - R
impairment losses Ol EER)
recognised on property, REEERE
plant and equipment (702) 2435 (5,363) (2,525)
Reversal of impairment losses REEHEEHEEDX
(impairment losses) under B R RKIE
expected credit loss model R E S EWFIERE
recognised on lease receivables  E51E R [E (Rl EER)
and trade receivables net ek (3,945) (2,255) 1516 (5,600)
Profit (loss) before tax BREAnE A (B518) 15,099 (4,995) (6,536) (21,806)
Income tax (expense)/credit e (%), % (2,323) 540 852 2,127
Profit (loss) for the year RELHM(ER) 12,776 (4,455) (5,684) (19,679)
Per share data BRER
Earnings (loss) per share BRAFM (EH)
— basic (HK cents) — EARCGE) 148 (052) (0.66) (2.28)
Financial ratios BiRLh 2
Gross profit margin FEH= 28.0% 153% 12.5% 11.0%
Net profit (Ioss) margin GORE (CFEEER) 8.0% (33%) (3.8%) (13.5%)
Return on total assets REERHE 3.9% (1.4%) (1.8%) (5.7%)
Return on equity T2 o] 3 K 5.7% (2.19%) (2.6%) (8.9%)
Current ratio BN & 17 15 18 13
Assets and liabilities AEERARE
Total assets BEE 327,887 318,670 310,689 344,909
Total liabilities BaE (103,729) (106,411) (94,556) (124,154)
Total equity BiEn 224,158 212,259 216,133 220,755

TEAREZERER DA /2024 FF3K

]
S



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
o4 B

REVENUE (HKS Million)
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GROSS PROFIT (HKS$ Million)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN %)
FEFIZR (%)
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The Directors submit herewith the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 95.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$253.3 million (as at 2023: approximately HK$253.8
million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 188 of this annual
report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.60 cent per
share for the year ended 31 March 2024 (FY2023: HK0.65 cent per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group are built on professionalism and continuous innovation. As
such, the Group strives to be at the forefront of advanced technological
applications in its industry and offer cost-effective solutions with various
value-added services, including but not limited to the provision of data-
driven solutions for carbon reduction and energy efficiency, which will
ensure that the Group can keep up with the dynamic needs of its
customers and create win-win solutions.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections
on pages 8 to 11 and on pages 12 to 24 of this annual report respectively.
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DIRECTORS’

In respect of business model, the Group is a leading equipment rental
service provider having its principal business in Hong Kong with the
capability of providing a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to its customers. The Group's strategies are to
serve its customers with more value-added services and professional
advice by applying advanced technologies. As such, the Group has
continuously invested on hardware and software every year. The Group has
several major goals of product developments, which are Comprehensive
Digitization, Environmental Friendly and Artificial Intelligence; as well as the
“green concept”, including but not limited to, provision of some raw data
related to the emission from the equipment leased by the customers, use
of biofuels and provision of more efficient, reliable and cost-effective
modes in providing electricity to the customers. Through the execution of
our business strategies, the leasing income of equipment of the Group
increased in Hong Kong, especially in the event business in FY2024. The
continuous promotion of the SSME concept proved that the Group is on
the right track with its strategies. For further details in relation to the
Group's business model and strategies, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages 12 to 24 of this report.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering (‘E&M” or “E&M engineering”)
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activity, may decrease the demand for
the Group’s equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) Cyber security risk and data integrity risk, along with the rising
concern about our compliance with data privacy and protection
regulations;

(i) difficult to attract and retain young talent to join the industry; and

(i) increase in the cost of construction materials caused by the Russia-
Ukraine military conflict.

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 30 and note 31 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 23 of this annual report.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial Summary
and the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Financial Review” on pages 25 to 27 and on pages 17 to 24 of this annual
report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting the Company
that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2024,
if any, can also be found in this section and the above sections of this annual
report and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained the
Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment (“QPME") identification for most
of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and we
have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group'’s environmental policies and performance;
and (i) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published separately.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to
its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The
Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of
the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same
time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers. In order to have better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management conducts performance review
regularly targeting on the Group'’s major suppliers and service providers,
and communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 25 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

In FY2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donation made by the Group during the year was HK$100,000
(FY2023: nil).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2024, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@)  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

() For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible

Participant” means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

2.

*

(a)

The Board may at its discretion grant options to*: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a
company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing
eligibility criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company would (subject to any relevant laws and regulations)
be entitled to deem any outstanding option or part thereof,
granted to such grantee and to the extent not already
exercised, as lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).

The grant of share options to any Eligible Participants shall be
subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as
amended from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

'S

Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”)

available for issue

(@  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
said 30% limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to
be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of option

(@)  Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Time of exercise of option (Continued)

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

Consideration for share options and the exercise price
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the eligibility
criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments
(the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately one year and eight months
as at the date of this annual report.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme at the beginning and the end of FY2024 was 86,400,000.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards
granted under the Share Option Scheme during FY2024 divided by the
weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the years is 0.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

12.9%
33.9%

The largest customer
The five largest customers in aggregate

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group's
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (ii) purchases of the
Group's owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

10.8%
46.5%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares (excluding treasury
shares), have any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers. Kanamoto Japan holds approximately 7.5% of the shares of the
Company as at the date of this annual report and Kanamoto Japan
contributed to the supply of approximately 0.6% of total purchases of the
Group during FY2024.

36 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

BRESE ()

7. BBIRAERT 81891 8RA Y
B BT 8 A E AR T FHER
AREBREFSRAAERSEERNE
P - MANFRA S B S0 H &
BRI/ —FRN@EA -

2024 F B IR E F 1A K A RS AR R BB AR AE 5T &)
AR H A BB AR 2 = /& 86,400,000 % ©

2024 F BB EARE B AR AT 219 A BB AR AE
BRI 21 TE B B AR E B TR B R D
(TBEEFRG) A MNEFHEE0 -

ERABRERBINE— PR F2EBRER
MIERrEE Iv-12 2 IV-22 B [EERFERT S —&f o

FERFRMERD
HE224F3A3BHIEFE  ZXEEBRARAREFH
gy

BRARP
ﬂx%)’ﬁlﬂ/\

12.9%
33.9%

AEEIZHERARAFEMGRRBEES
A () AN B A E AR B TR K378 2 (i) &

SEFEBAELRARENAT) BES LT

=AM R 10.8%
AAHERA 46.5%
RAFEEMAREMEES  HEHHEBARA

ARIEABRREBESMEMEES AR R DT
M1 (B IEETFARD ) 5% A ) B 2 £ E 4Efa]
AARPREEENEREZ - @ ABRRAE
WABMBEARARAIRMA75%  MeAB AR
2024 FEHIBFEAREB BB E406%



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Lau Tsz Fung (appointed on 1 April 2024)

Non-executive Director
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

Mr. Lau Tsz Fung was appointed as the executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2024. In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles
of Association, Mr. Lau Tsz Fung, shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and will then be eligible for re-
election at the same meeting.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting (the
“AGM"), one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 73 to 83 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director to be proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the

EERRG  HEROCREEZDHE
mRRE

M 2024F 3 A31 B » EERARA) K& E (A FE 5
EE(ERRFLFRAEGEN(RERAEHKRG )
EXVED) MARH - HEARND REREPEERE
%’*%&Hﬁ‘éﬂﬂﬁll%xv*B%NSzg’M ZER LN
AN TR ERSOAE (BRIEREZS ME
wﬁlJ;Z%ﬂ*wﬁz%&W’EEEé%&rﬁﬁﬂz}\;\
FEEMNRERIAR)  REBEFEHFRBEKROSE
352 7B AR SR RZ AR P L B e AU RE 25 BA B
AR & T AR BIIPT 8% C3 BTk _E T B4 A%%&ﬁ

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for  #EA X HEEESFR| ([EESFA ) BMEARA
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix KRB ZFrekEss sk AT
(3 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) are as follows:
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of Total Issued
Name of Directors Nature of Interest Shares Shares (%)
HEBTROBH
EEnE EmME RB B B E 2L (%)
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Notes 1, 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
2IFBp A (MHEET ~ 2) R LB R
Interest of spouse 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
B R
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Notes 3, 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
BRZ2Mg 22+ (Fi7E3 ~ 4) R AR
Interest of spouse 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%

fo Bt
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited (“New Club House"). By virtue of his 100%
shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau") is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina ("Ms. Chan”). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV

of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which

FERRRRORABEKRGPHOERSR

RE
R2024F 38318 BEEMA - U TAL(CK
PEIEEXEEITHRABRIN AESHERA

PRI R AR R A R B %&Hﬂi"i{wu
FEXVEREE 2 &30 EAESCEME L B B R I 7E

are required to be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part K HA & 651 55 336 {578 50 A 5% 6 A it 2 52 R &9 5%
XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the (A RO HERSA BT ¢
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
Approximate
Percentage of
Total Number the Issued
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Held Share Capital
HEBTRA
BRRERB EaME PR IR 48 & BHABED
New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
New Club House' (Ffi&E1) Eam i
Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Great Club House? (Fff 3£ 2) BEmiEm
Kanamoto Japan® (Note 3) Beneficial interest 64,800,648 (L) 7.50%

AR (H5E3) BafEan
Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling

shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company.

Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company.
Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company.

(L): Long position

! “New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 "Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (tf =\, £ %&£ 77 7 £ ), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

* For identification purposes only
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors and other officers of the Company at any
time, whether at present or in the past, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty. The
Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability
insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme” disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the
shares or debentures of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised
any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2024, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 133 employees (as at
31 March 2023: 127 employees). For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$61.2 million
(FY2023: approximately HK$56.9 million).

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.
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REMUNERATION POLICY (Continued)

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme’) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.

The total costs charged to profit for the year of approximately HK$ 1,838,000
(FY2023: approximately HK$1,741,000), comprised approximately
HK$36,000 and HKS$1,802,000 (FY2023: approximately HK$53,000 and
HK$1,688,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs respectively,
and represented contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with the
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as
at 31 March 2024 or during the year.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance has been

entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM IPO

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the Company
(after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were
approximately HK$81.8 million. On 26 June 2024, the Board approved the
extension of the expected timeline to 31 March 2025 for utilising the
unutilised net proceeds for the improvement of facility for maintenance of
the Group's equipment since the Company expected that additional time
is required for the Group for planning and implementation to improve its
facility for maintenance of the Group’s equipment. The following table sets
forth the status of the use of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2024 and

the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds:
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Investment in transportation BERRERE 5,808 5,808 =
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Improvement of facility TN EE B 3,517 2,901 616 By the end of
for maintenance of the RERERIE 31 March 2025
Group's equipment R2025F3H31H
HERAT
General working capital —REEES 5,726 5,726 =
81,800 81,184 616

The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO will be applied in

such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

Asoem Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with Asoem
(Int'l) Investment Company Limited (“Asoem”) on 1 April 2021 (the
“Asoem Framework Agreement’) governing the transactions
between Asoem and members of the Group in connection with (i)
the sales of equipment and vehicles and their peripheral and spare
parts and provision of related services from Asoem to the Group
("Asoem Type A Transactions”); and (ii) the sales of equipment
and vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and provision of
related services from the Group to Asoem ("“Asoem Type B
Transactions’). At any time during the term of the Asoem
Framework Agreement, the relevant members of the Group and
Asoem may from time to time enter into definitive agreement(s) in
relation to any Asoem Type A Transactions and Asoem Type B
Transactions. All definitive agreements shall:

(@)  bein writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(0 be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of Asoem Type A Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the terms
and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of Asoem Type B Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the terms
and conditions offered to an independent third party;

() have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

FERERS

1.

Asoem {EZR 1 &

K A A R2021%F 4818 EAsoem (Int'l)
Investment Company Limited (fAsoemD ET
37 HE B2 15 5% ([ Asoem AE 2R 15 3% |) -

Asoem EEZN &£ B MUK B A aﬁﬁa—rﬁﬂﬁlﬁ
BIZZ 5 © ()Asoem [A) 2 52 (B §5 5 Wik K /R B8
J«}USZ?E*MCF 3 42 £ 46 7 AR 75 ([ Asoem A
BRB 1) (i) A & E [ Asoem $H 6 HE
&ﬁiu&%% 4 30 12 4 48 B AR 1
([Asoem BE R 5 |) o 1 Asoem 1E 28 1 3%
HIR AEAERRE - AEE/EEKE AT
B Asoem A] N B Bt 1E 7] Asoem AZE R 5 K&
Asoem BEERX 5 5] ST Ex & 1ihak © P S il
HRARANTEE

@ AEEFAEL - WEHIETZ
SEVMER R ANEE

%%

() RAEEHN—BKRABEBEBERET
VA
O REAEBEMEBESEEERR(E

EH0 EWARA)HEAFEKETL

d) (FtAsoem ABER B E ) R E B
SER . B NBRIBE=HRHEH
TR B A

e (FtAsoem BEXRZHME ) R E BT
LBE B TERMABILE=TiRME
AR R Ak

h EBEEEHR - TEB=F (KM
B=F ALBYMBER(EER
ETRA) R A B R R E A
REE—RTIHED)



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Asoem Framework Agreement (Continued)

(@) set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made
(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees
(where applicable));

(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which
shall comply with the terms of the Asoem Framework
Agreement;

(i) be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole; and

§) be in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant
constitutional documents and the Asoem Framework
Agreement.

As Asoem is owned as to 100% by Lau Pong Man, the brother of Lau
Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a
director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, Asoem is
therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under
the Asoem Framework Agreement for each of the years ending 31
March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed
HK$2,990,000.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the Asoem Framework
Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the Asoem
Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2.

A6

A-One Pong Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with A-One
Pong Construction Equipment Limited (“A-One Pong") on 1 April
2021 (the “A-One Pong Framework Agreement’) governing the
transactions between A-One Pong and members of the Group in
connection with (i) the sales of equipment and vehicles and their
peripheral and spare parts and rental of equipment and vehicles and
provision of related services from A-One Pong to the Group (“A-One
Pong Type A Transactions’); and (i) the sales of equipment and
vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and rental of
equipment and vehicles and provision of related services from the
Group to A-One Pong (“A-One Pong Type B Transactions”). At any
time during the term of the A-One-Pong Agreement, the relevant
members of the Group and A-One Pong may from time to time
enter into definitive agreement(s) in relation to any A-One Pong
Type A Transactions and A-One Pong Type B Transactions. All
definitive agreements shall:

(@)  be in writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

() be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type A Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the
terms and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type B Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the
terms and conditions offered to an independent third party;

) have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);

(@) set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made

(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees
(where applicable));
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
2. A-OnePong Framework Agreement (Continued)
(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which
shall comply with the terms of the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement;

(i) be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole; and

() be in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant
constitutional documents and the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement.

As A-One Pong is wholly-owned by Lau Pong Ming, brother of Lau
Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a
director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, A-One Pong
is therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under
the A-One Pong Framework Agreement for each of the years ending
31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed
HK$2,990,000.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong Framework
Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong
Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by
the Group after 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party
transactions set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted connected transactions/continuing connected transactions, or
they constituted connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.60 cent (for
the year ended 31 March 2023: HK0.65 cent) per share for the year ended
31 March 2024. The final dividend will be paid to the shareholders of the
Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company as at 5 September 2024, if the proposal is approved by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
It is expected that the final dividend will be paid on or around 16
September 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY
On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether it is
adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii)
the future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the
Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject to
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.
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DIRECTORS’

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting (“AGM") of the Company to be held on 28 August 2024, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 August 2024
to 28 August 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 August 2024,

For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 September
2024 to 5 September 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 2 September 2024.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

By order of the Board

LAU Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A SRETR R

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company’s culture

Purpose and Values

The Group is built on professionalism and continuous innovation. The
differences it makes for its clients and its communities come down to its
core values: integrity, excellence, collaboration, and evolution.

The Group has always been a trailblazer since establishment. Having
prioritised sustainability and workplace safety in all aspects of its business
operations, it strives to be at the forefront of advanced technological
applications in the industry and offer cost-effective solutions to keep up
with the dynamic needs of its customers. Riding the wave of sustainability,
the Group is the pioneer in Hong Kong to introduce data-driven solutions
for carbon reduction and energy efficiency to its clients. With its exemplary
quality of services and profound industry expertise, it has been entrusted
by governmental bodies and other market practitioners for long-term
advice on some of the most intricate projects. Together, the Group grows
hand in hand with its stakeholders.

Vision

To be a pioneering equipment services provider that transcends with
excellence and advanced technologies to businesses and individuals
worldwide.

Mission

To be a socially responsible corporate that brings value-for-money and
pragmatic one-stop solutions to customers and communities through
innovation and quality services.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and
improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
internal controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance advising services. A review on the Company’s internal controls,
enterprise risk management and corporate governance practices were
conducted by the Consultant for FY2024, and the Company has been
improving its internal controls, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance practices continuously with reference to the Consultant’s
recommendations. Moreover, the Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules ("CG Code"), save and except for the
deviation from code provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. The Board believes
that vesting of the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same individual provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows for effective planning,
formulation and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Company to sustain the development of its business
efficiently.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) in 2016. The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a
culture of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance
across the Group; and (i) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and
encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under the
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the Audit Committee. No incident of
fraud or misconduct that have a material effect on the Group's financial
statements or overall operations for the year ended 31 March 2024 has
been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed and updated periodically by the
Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 30 December 2022. The Group is committed to achieving the
highest standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting
business. The Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group’s
corporate governance framework. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the
specific behavioural guidelines that the Group'’s personnel and business
partners must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the Group's
commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and the
compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
local and foreign operations. In line with this commitment and to ensure
transparency in the Group's practices, the Anti-corruption Policy has been
prepared as a guide to all employees of the Group and third parties dealing
with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practice.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company. The Company has made
specific enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code. All the directors of the Company
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code in FY2024.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overseeing and supervising the management
of the business affairs and overall performance of the Group and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorizing the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and
managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the
Group’s values and standards. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board
periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises three executive Directors, one non-
executive Director (the “NED") and three independent non-executive
Directors (the “INEDs"). Since there are three independent non-executive
Directors and at least one of the INEDs possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The number of INEDs represents more than one-third of
the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent element in the Board,
which can effectively exercise independent judgement. The Board
comprises the following Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2I#BX) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (B 218 (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (21582 ) (Vice president for sales and marketing of
AP Rentals Limited)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (2 & 72)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({A]$&2x)

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (F5/2F)

Mr. Li Ping Chi (A7)
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The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. Mr. Lau Tsz Fung, who is an
executive Director, is the son of Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina. The executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit
Mui, Lina, are interested in the shares of the Company through their
interest in New Club House International Holdings Limited (‘New Club
House") and Great Club House Holdings Limited (“Great Club House")
respectively (for details, please refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual
or potential conflict have been identified and minimised. Please refer to the
"Directors and Senior Management’, "Directors’ Report — Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and "Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected
Transactions, Related Party Transactions” on pages 73 to 83, pages 38
to 39, pages 44 to 48 in this annual report respectively for more details.
Save as disclosed above, the Directors have no other financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with one another as at the
date of this annual report.

To prevent management abusing its power, the Company has set up four
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Risk Management Committee, to
monitor and supervise the activities of chairman and chief executive officer
with scrutiny. In particular, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are both chaired by INEDs to ensure objective and thorough
supervision over the development of Company’s strategy and policies.

Board Independence

The Board has appointed three INEDs to provide independent and
objective advice and oversight to the board and management team to
enhance effectiveness, transparency, accountability, and sound decision-
making. The background of each director to be appointed is evaluated
during the appointment process. The Company'’s existing governance
framework and mechanisms (including selection and appointment criteria
and appropriate remuneration packages) effectively ensure the
independent views and input of INEDs and NED.
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Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the NED and
the INEDs of the Company have shared their valuable experiences to the
Board for promoting the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The appointment of each of the NED and the INEDs is for an
initial term of three years and shall thereafter continue on a month to
month basis unless otherwise agreed between the director and the
Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment. Each of them is also subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each INEDs, a written confirmation of his
independence to the Company pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all INEDs to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors have attended training ~ REZE 202453 A31 B ILEE  2RBEEHEL
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company, and B AR EIEAN AR ERATAERE NI

the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in the table below: BEEHECLHRINTEX

Name of Directors Attendance

EEnE HE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2 FB/X) SUFBRK 5 A& v/
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer) (F)E : TTEAAE)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (P2 4§ ) BRRMGZ =+ v
(Chief Operating Officer) (BERES)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (32 & 52.) RIER A v/

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYKHITES

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fA]$&2x) fAI$EZR1E - TI2AD v

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (FE/ZF) BEFLEE v

Mr. Li Ping Chi (/A FIRELAE v

X Not attended v Attended
X REHRE v BEHE
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

In April 2019, each of Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau”) and Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina (“Ms. Chan"), who is an executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the service
agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan are
HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively.
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, a NED, entered into a letter of appointment dated
14 December 2018 with the Company, pursuant to which his appointment
would be for an initial term of three years, and shall thereafter continue on a
month to month basis unless otherwise agreed between the director and
the Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is not entitled to any
remuneration according to the letter of appointment. In addition, each of the
INEDs, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, has entered into a letter of appointment dated 8 April 2019 with
the Company, pursuant to which his appointment would be for an initial
term of three years, and shall thereafter continue on a month to month basis
unless otherwise agreed between the director and the Company in writing
or terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.
Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a remuneration in
the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, is entitled to
a remuneration in the sum of HK$52,500 per month.

On 14 December 2022, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved the increase of the directors’
remuneration of each Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, to HK$242,550 per month and
HK$198,450 per month, respectively, starting from 1 January 2023 and
approved a discretionary annual bonus for Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan,
amounting to HK$462,000 and HK$378,000, respectively.

On 22 March 2023, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved the increase of the directors’
remuneration of the INEDs with effect from 1 April 2023. Each of Mr. Siu
Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of
HK$22,050 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, is entitled to a
remuneration in the sum of HK$55,125 per month.

On 23 August 2023, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee of the Company approved the increase of the
director’'s remuneration of Ms. Chan from HK$198,450 per month to
HK$238,450 per month. Such increase was to compensate the loss of the
provision of the quarter for Ms. Chan. The provision of housing benefits
was included in the service agreement entered into with the Company in
April 2019.

On 18 January 2024, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved a discretionary annual bonus for Mr.
Lau and Ms. Chan, amounting to HK$242,550 and HK$238,450 respectively.
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On 28 February 2024, the Board, with the recommendation of the
nomination committee (which has taken into account the factors set out in
the director nomination policy of the Company), appointed Mr. Lau Tsz
Fung (“Mr. TF Lau") as an executive Director of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2024. Mr. TF Lau has entered into a service agreement with the
Company with no fixed term but may be terminated pursuant to the terms
of the service agreement (including the termination by at least 3 months'’
notice in writing by either party to the service agreement to the other
party). Mr. TF Lau is entitled to, under the service agreement: (i) a monthly
salary of HK$115,000; (i) housing allowance of HK$20,000 per month; and
(iii) discretionary bonus and other benefits as may be determined by the
Board upon recommendation of the remuneration committee of the
Company.

Mr. TF Lau has obtained a letter of advice from Deacons, our legal advisers
as to Hong Kong law, on 1 February 2024, (a) enclosing therewith a
memorandum which gives an overview of the main requirements relating
to a listed issuer and/or its directors; and (b) setting out the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information to
the Stock Exchange for the purpose of complying with Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules. He has also obtained details for accessing and viewing a
directors training video prepared by Deacons on 31 January 2024. He has
confirmed to us that he understood his obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

At the last AGM held on Wednesday, 23 August 2023, Ms. Chan and Mr. Li

Ping Chi have retired. Both of them have been re-elected as Directors of
the Company at the last AGM.
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BOARD MEETING

Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.5.1, the Board should meet regularly
and Board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 13 Board meetings were held and 1
general meeting of the Company were held. Set out below are details of
the attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 March
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HE/BTEE
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting of
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting the Company

Exg &% RE E2d)] b YN
Expe g3 ZEEEE ZEEEE ZEgEE N
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HTES
Mr.Lau Pong Sing (2I38RX) (Chairman) BIHRL otk (£/) 13/13 N/A B 22 4/4 1/1
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (FB218) BRRisx L 13/13 N/ATER N/ATER N/A T iE B 1
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTEE
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (12K 7) RERRELE 13/13 N/A N iE N/A N EF N/A i 11
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BUFHTES
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({7&%) ERETTI2A 13/13 717 N/ATER N/A TEA 1/1
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (2 F) FETLE 13/13 717 2 4/4 N
Mr. Li Ping Chi (/A7) FRELE 1/13 717 22 4/4 0N
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THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on
23 August 2023 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 28 August 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the “Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph D.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises
three members, all being INEDs, namely, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr.
Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 7 meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows: (i) on the re-
appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement letter of the
auditor; (i) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to provide advisory
services about the internal controls assessment, enterprise risk
management and corporate governance advising services; (iii) review
reports on continuing connected transactions for every six months: and (iv)
review the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months ended
30 September 2023 and audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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On 26 June 2024, a meeting was held to review the Group’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 complied with the applicable accounting standards and the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of the
Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant has
provided certain recommendations on improving the Company'’s
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

The Board is responsible for performing certain corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code, including but not limited, (i) to develop and
review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices; (i) to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management of the Group; (iii) to review and
monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and (v) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises three members,
being one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Chairman), and
two INEDs, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a
majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2 meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held to review composition of board members and make
recommendation to the Board in relation to the directors to be retired from
office by rotation and then subject to re-election in the AGM of 2024. The
Committee has also reviewed and recommended the appointment of a
new executive director of the Company, Mr. TF Lau, on 28 February 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, being one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two INEDs, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu
(Chairman) and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a majority of the members are
INEDs.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and
on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (i) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members
of senior management.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, 4 meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to review the remuneration package of the staff and
directors of the Group and to make recommendations to the Board on
such remuneration packages. The Committee has also reviewed and
recommended the remuneration packages of Ms. Chan on 23 August 2023,
the discretionary bonus for Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan on 18 January 2024 and
the remuneration package of Mr. TF Lau on 28 February 2024.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Details of the annual remuneration of the senior management of the
Company then in office by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 are as
follows:
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Number of individuals A

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
FEN A8 B A
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z 2 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7575 2 1,500,000 78 7T 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 /& 7T £ 3,500,000 7 7T 2
Total 4ast 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2024 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. The Risk Management Committee comprises three
members, being two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, and one senior staff member of the Company,
namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The primary responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are to deliberate risk management related
policies and procedures, review the effectiveness of risk management
activities and handle issues of emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 1 meeting was held to work with
the Consultant to identify risk events, establishing the risk inventory,
performing risk assessment and formulating risk mitigation plans for
preparing the risk management report for the Group.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views are
available to the Board in the Company’s director nomination policy and
board diversity policy, details of which are set out as follows:
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DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

The Company is devoted to incorporating diversity and inclusivity in the
workplace in which all employees feel equally valued, involved, supported,
and respected for demonstrating their unique talent and perspectives.
Celebrating differences and promoting equal opportunities could serve as
the catalyst for keeping the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development. In doing so, the Company made
initiatives and prepared the action plan with measurable goals that
promote diversity and inclusion in the workplace.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board composition to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of
Board members can be achieved through consideration of several factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
qualifications, industry and regional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The path to the Company’s sustainable and balanced development is built
on diversity and inclusion. The Board currently has one female director.
Following the retirement of Mr. Li Ping Chi, Ms. Lam Sau Fung, is proposed
to be appointed as a director to join the Board subject to the shareholders’
approval in the forthcoming AGM to be held on 28 August 2024 (the “2024
AGM"). As part of our diversity initiatives, the Company and our male senior
management are committed to gender diversity in the workplace and
advocate for gender equality in the organisation. For more information on
the Company'’s diversity and inclusion, such as the gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), please refer to the 2024 ESG
Report.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

1. Purpose and objectives
On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the “Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.1 The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

1.2 The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of

skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.
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Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
(“Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual’s educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual’s character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;
and

Board succession planning considerations.

Procedures and process for nomination of Directors

3.1

32

33

The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals from
existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great Club
House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 (“Supplemental Deed") with the Controlling Shareholders to amend
the Deed of Non-competition. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the
geographic coverage under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as
defined in the Deed of Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the
Controlling Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details
of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019,
respectively.

The Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations thereunder are
conditional upon (i) the independent shareholders of the Company having
approved the Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations
thereunder at a general meeting of the Company as required by and in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and (ii) the completion of the
transactions contemplated under the Equity Transfer Agreement (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019). The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 June
2019. Completion of the acquisition took place on 20 September 2019.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation(s) in
respect of compliance with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed)
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition (as amended and supplemented by the
Supplemental Deed) and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders has complied with his/her/its undertaking during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group were approximately HK$1.8 million and
approximately HKS$0.5, respectively. The non-audit services consist of
taxation advising service (approximately HK$0.1 million), internal controls
assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate governance
advising services (approximately HK$0.4 million) and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 84 to 91.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a
set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.
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The key elements of the risk management and internal controls systems of
the Group include the establishment of a strategic risk register to monitor,
evaluate and assess the identified risks. Risk assessment exercise is
performed periodically by interviewing with the management of the Group
so as to identify and prioritise risk events according to vulnerability and
impact. The risk assessment results and mitigation plan are recorded to the
risk register of the Group for monitoring and to ensure appropriate controls
and mitigation actions are in place.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed to
meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. The audit
committee of the Company recommended the Company to engage an
external consultant to perform the annual review of the Group's internal
controls, enterprise risk management and corporate governance practices
based on the consideration that: (i) the resources for maintaining an
internal audit function for the Group will be very costly; and (ii) its
effectiveness and efficiency might be jeopardized by any staff turnover.
The engagement of a renowned external consultant can ensure that the
effectiveness and efficiency in performing the internal audit function.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company engaged the
Consultant to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s internal
controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance matters. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for
improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure
prompt remedial actions are taken. Results of risk management and
internal controls review and are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board at least once a year. During the year under review, the Consultant
has issued the internal controls report (“IC Report”’), enterprise risk
management report ("ERM Report”) and the Corporate Governance report
("CG Report’) to the Audit Committee and the Board. The Board has
adopted the advice made in the IC Report, the ERM Report and the CG
Report and has continuously improving its corporate governance practices
and risk management with reference to the Consultant’s
recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
The Board recognizes the vital role of shareholders and other investors in ~ ZEEERXARR M EME EEEETESIFHE
determining a business’s sustainable growth and development. The #EENZEREFENEEEAE - AR TIEHER
Company is committed to maintaining an open, ongoing, and transparent R T IHRF AR - HE LBERANEE - AEHE
dialogue for facilitating the effective and timely dissemination of the B MEFZEHARQ BN ER MK - KAFIE
Company’s information and performance with its shareholders and market.  HBaF{h M aFAZ AR B S BB RIE - RERES
The effectiveness of the Company's engagements with Shareholders is R EZRESHFIOT :

assessed and evaluated regularly. The channels for shareholders to

communicate their views are listed below:

Shareholders’ meetings

BERXE

Company's website

NGIFEN
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The annual shareholders’ meetings and other shareholders” meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company with its shareholders and
for shareholder participation.

The Company encourages and supports shareholder participation in shareholders’
meetings. Shareholders are encouraged to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend such meetings.
Mechanisms for enabling shareholder participation will be reviewed on a regular basis
by the board of directors of the Company to encourage the highest level of
participation.

Chairman of the Board, appropriate members of the Board committees and the
external auditor of the Company will attend the annual general meetings to answer
questions from the shareholders.
AARMBRRBERGREMBREARERAAAEARREBRRR2ENFE
RAFSEREZFRRZERRAG - ARAAFBMRREZERKRALEEASY
RE ERE(MRERELEEBAE)

RAREBFE T RRRRDEMRS] - ASEHRS2EKF

ExetR EFSZE9HENE RADAIINEZBMIGHFERRBFERE LA
B 2 AR AR ©

The Company’s website (www.apholdingshk.com) contains information about the
Company including shareholder communications.

The Company will place on its website the Company’s announcements, circulars,
notices of general meetings and other information in compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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Shareholders’ enquiries
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s share registrar,
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Shareholders and the public may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available. Shareholders may
direct their queries to the Company’s headquarters in Hong Kong at Unit 806A, 8th
floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary of the Company.

The Company will respond promptly to shareholder queries and concerns.
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The Chairman, Mr. Lau and other directors attending the AGM on 23
August 2023, held a meeting after the closure of the AGM with all the
shareholders of the Company attending that AGM, asking for their advice
on the performance of the Company and exchanged the ideas of the
Board with the shareholders, including but not limited to the effectiveness
of communication with the shareholders. Both the shareholders attending
the AGM and the Board members were satisfied about that meeting. As
such, the Board considered that the existing shareholders communication
policies are adequate. The Company will continue to make communication
with the Shareholders after the closure of each AGM in the future.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis,
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong, which is presently
situated at Unit 806A, 8th Floor, Tower Il, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting".

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

By order of the Board
Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
26 June 2024
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OVERVIEW BE
The table below contains certain information about our Directors and ~ FXR#JETABEEERSREIEENEE -
senior management.
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAEXEE EZER AR
i Fie B B 5 9 H REEENBE
Mr. Lau Pong Sing 67 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Our overall management
(BIFBAK) Chairman; Chief and business development;
executive officer setting business strategies,
direction and goals
IFm LS 67  HMTEEEE:  2004F1NANH 2015F6A11H BMANEBEEREBER:
1THAREL HEEBRE - HA R
BZ
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina 66 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Overseeing our
(BRZH) Chief operating administration, financial
officer control and human
resources
Rt 66 ~ HITESE: 2004F12A28 2015F6ANE EERMOITE - FHES
EiEmE RANER
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung 38 Executive Director; 1 April 2009 1 April 2024 Overseeing our sales and
(B17452) Vice president — (1 April 2024 for marketing affairs
sales and marketing executive director)
of AP Rentals Limited
BFignE 38 WITEF: 20094818 202454818 EERMOHEEREHEES
TEAEEER (72024 4F
NGI:OLEREE9 1HEZER
(SHEREH) WITES)
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu 51 Non-executive 14 December 2018 14 December 2018  Supervising the management
(FERR®) Director of the Company
RERREE 51 FHTES 018F 12A 148 2018F 12148 EEARARTMNER
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 85 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
Raymond (fal$&EZr Non-executive of the Company
Director
fERE L TIZAD 85  BUIFWTESF 201638178  2016F3A178 EEARANER
Mr. Siu Chak Yu 63 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(RETF) Non-executive of the Company
Director
BETRE 63  BUIFWTEZR 016F3A17H 201653178 EEARANER
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OVERVIEW (Continued) e (5
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAREE EZTE BN
nE Fie B B 5 B 5 RASEHNHE
Mr. Li Ping Chi 64 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(ERE) Non-executive of the Company
Director
FRERE 64  BUIFWTEE 016F3A17H 20163178 EEAXARANER
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya 70 Director of 3 March 2017 3 March 2017 Oversee the operations
(Z=Xfz2) AP Singapore business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore
=RE2h4E 70 AP Singapore & % 0173 A3H 017%#3 A3H EERQNT RN
Bl /2 &) AP Singapore

Mr. Wong Cheuk Man 58 Financial controller 1 January 2010

(FE8) & Company Secretary
FEgEE 58 MIBHEEFRAFME 2010F1 718
Notes:

(1) Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.

) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

(3) Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.

(4) Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto Japan, and was

appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14 December
2018.

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.
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Overseeing our financial
management and company
secretarial matters
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board's work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for the
increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 67, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer and is one of the authorised representatives of the Company. Mr.
Lau is primarily responsible for the Group’s overall management and
business development, as well setting our business strategies, direction
and goals. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our Nomination Committee and the

the Board on 11

Risk Management Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Lau is the director of New Club House and Great Club
House.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992 and
Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr. Lau
had in the past managed or overseen various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management and
management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. Lau Tsz Fung. Mr. TF Lau
has been appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2024.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 66, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group's
administration, financial control and human resources. Ms. Chan is also a
member of the Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chan is the director of
Great Club House and New Club House.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men's
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

Mr. TF Lau has been appointed as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LAU Tsz Fung (2|7 ), aged 38, is appointed as our executive Director on 1
April 2024 and has been our vice president — Sales and Marketing of AP Rentals
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 1 January
2016, and oversees the sales and marketing department of the Group. Mr. TF
Lau is principally responsible for encouraging sustainable development
through the delivery of updated market analysis and information, and
works closely with the sales team of the Group in attracting potential
customers and contracts. His roles and duties include maintaining a high
volume of rental transactions and good relationships with worldwide
manufacturers and suppliers.

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group, he was a marketing officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings)
Limited from April 2008 to June 2008, where he was responsible for
managing relationship with potential customers and overseas buyers. He
joined AP Rentals Limited as a sales and marketing officer on 1 April 2009
and was then promoted as the vice president for sales and marketing since
1 January 2016.

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, who are executive directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. NAKAZAWA Tomokatsu F/2X 52

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (FR 72/ 52 ), aged 51, is the Deputy General Manager
of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto Japan. He has over 25 years of
relevant working experience in Kanamoto Japan and its subsidiaries (the
“Kanamoto Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas
business development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto Japan immediately after his graduation. He was
assigned to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and
marketing activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries
and equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate
Director of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co,, Ltd. ("Kyokuto”), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto Japan and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

In 2018, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to Kanamoto (HK) Co., Ltd.
("Kanamoto HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan in Hong
Kong, which enriched his experience in the Hong Kong market. He has
been the Director and the Chief Operating Officer of Kanamoto HK and was
responsible for the business management, development, and planning.
Since 2021, he was then transferred to Kanamoto Australia Holdings Pty
Ltd. ("'Kanamoto Australia”) and was promoted to Director of Kanamoto
Australia and Deputy Managing Director of Kanamoto Australia’s
subsidiaries. His job duties included total management of Kanamoto
Australia and its subsidiaries from internal management to business
development as well as strategic business planning of Oceania region.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond i $& %

Independent non-executive Director

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J., JP, aged 85, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016.
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental
and geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a
number of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of
Laws from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an
Honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering and obtained his Postgraduate diploma for advanced studies
in engineering soil mechanics and foundations from the University of
Manchester in July 1964.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond fA/$Z 2= (Continued)

Independent non-executive Director (Continued)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as

W E

£ 100

3‘54#%@?‘?5% &)

AERE L TR (E)

BUIFHTESE (&)

RERAE  AH LSRR EEETIES LT

director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong:

RBABNES :

Period Office Listed public company on the Stock Exchange

MR 5 XA ETARAT

From 16 June 2020 to Independent non-executive director Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)
17 July 2023

20206 A 16 Bt
22023 7H17H

From 22 January 2020 to

1 October 2021

20201 HA22B#E=

202110818

From September 2018
0 16 June 2020

H2018F9 AL E
20205 6 H 16 B

Since December 2013

BH2013F 12 A#E
Since September 2007

B 2007 9 A #E

From June 2005 to
3 June 2019

2005 6 AE
20196 A3H

Since September 1993

B 199349 A #E

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:

B FATES

Independent non-executive director

BIUIFATES

Chairman and Non-executive director

EFEIFATER

Independent non-executive director

BYIFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUIFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUIATES

Independent non-executive director

BIUFATES

ReKEERERAR (B : 368)

Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263)

EOSBZERARA T (B - 2263)

Veson Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
SCUD Group Limited) (stock code: 1399)
HIEERAERAR (AIHRREREEFRLA)
(AR % < 1399)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
e & BRI A R A B (R H5R - 997)
GCL Technology Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 3800)
ERIERAR L
(R AR 1A 25 A
(AR 5% ¢ 3800)
China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311)
PEEERBREB AR AR (RO - 3311)

/)ﬁ RBERAT])

Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)
mREREREEAR AR (RO : 262)

gL B AR A o RBFHE — S #IN0T

Current appointments and offices

B ATt as R Bi%
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Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April
2019) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee
BREAGDEZBUNBRREUERLEEAZTEGR
4 A%8) REE (H 20052 A E 201954 A)

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods
1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2021)
BERFREERBEXEM(1995F7 A1 BEE 201343 A31 BHRE & 2015
F10A1BRE2021F9A308)

BT fE (820194



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 63, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. Mr. Siu is the chairman of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England and
Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 199
Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

1, and in

He was a board member of the Guardianship Board from 1 February 2017
until 1 February 2023. He is also a board member of the Ocean Park
Corporation since 1 July 2022 and is a member of the Hong Kong Arts
Development Council since 1 January 2023.

He was the vice-chairman of the Estate Agents Authority from 1 November
2020 to 28 July 2022 and is appointed as its chairman since 29 July 2022.

4 PO

EHNE

BEEw®)

BYFHTEE(H)

BEFELE

BIINTEE

WA ERFAEE - KFHLT 6358 ' 12016
FIR17THERTABYIRNITES - BRLER
FWNZESEF TABGRLZESRIEEEZES
A -

BAEEBBEEEONELR - B 19834 11
AR 19845F7 At ERRBRERITELELE
NRFBEEFEE - 1R 1986F9 8 » 19906
A 1991F2 8 R192F9 A D RIERS « B
AR R HT - RN & AR K BT N SR A] A
Bl - I H 1991 4F 2 A B ASRIMN A9 K /26D » @Rt A
MR1997 4 A & 20005F 1 AR EZRTABRBE A
BARFEZIAREA @ BAFTEEMITEE
}\ °

H2017F 21 BEES2023F 2818 A
uéi/\aé%%&,ao HINE 202247 A1 8 i
REBFABRARIESTGKE - WH2023F1 A1
Etz%?ﬁé%mﬁé): BZE -

202011 A1 BE 20227 A28 AHER
BEERBIER  WH202F7 208 EEZT
BERE

DRERAEEERERAF /2024F 55k 8



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

A”lﬂl

E 3‘& »&H’:’I%

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi /A&

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 64, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
17 March 2016. Mr. Li is the chairman of our Audit Committee and a

member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee.

Mr. Li has over 40 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji =& =

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 70, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake of
establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017

Mr. Mitsuya’s main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji = % {§ = (Continued)

Director of AP Singapore (Continued)

Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2006.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (£ £#8), aged 58, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee. He is
primarily responsible for the Group’s accounting, internal control, financial
reporting, resource management and information technology affairs.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo Electric
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant and later
assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990 to
September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in
listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

P ST A% R R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
DEAEEERERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 92 to 188, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

P ST A% BRI R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial

BEESEE
RREFSEERERMANIERHE - RAEYHA
MG AR BREANEARREENTR - FLF
ARAERMEFTBEBFAMBBERRLAZRR
ETRERN - RUITSHELEHREHEBNE
H o

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BARETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRNESF MY ERETSRETEE

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

Has R Bl E 1

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and
machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and involvement of the
extensive audit work.

EN e RSB REESHBRES VBRI RAE
B TENEEMAR BESEERET MM ML
AT Y Bl & R AT 1 ) BT - AP 58RI B8 e OB (E AT A
REAREETEE -

As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery reported
under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2024 was
HK$158,563,000. The Group’s accumulated impairment losses of
plant and machinery as at 31 March 2024 was HK$6,217,000.
Impairment losses of HK$54,000 has been recognised in the
profit or loss for the current year.
NGRS SRR M T 14T EE - R20246F3A31H -
R BERBREETA2BEBE RERENREER
158,563,000 4 7T ° A& @ 2024 6 3 A 31 B A28 R AR
B R 5T R B & 18 56,217,000 4 7T © 54,000 7 7T KA (E 5 18
ERRNFEERRDTHER -

As detailed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
when there is indication of impairment with reference to the
utilisation and income generated from the plant and machinery
in recent years, impairment assessment is conducted and the
recoverable amount of plant and machinery was determined
based on at fair value less cost of disposal.

Wi B mRM T 14T - B 2RO FHEE RS
ERERRAEERATRETRE - ETRENE
WHE A 70 (B R H B B AN TE 28 S A iy mT Ui [B] 58 o

Our procedures in relation to management'’s impairment
assessment of plant and machinery included:

B E IR E R MR EE TR T B M2 P
B

Obtaining an understanding of management’s process
of reviewing and evaluating impairment assessment of
plant and machinery; and

TRRE IR E R RO ERT (R E B R E
FEY =

Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost
of disposal estimated by the management by checking,
on a sample basis, to the recent disposal values or
transaction prices of similar assets in the market.
RBHMERREETS FRUEENSIREEBE
RS ER FEHERBGANAAERERE
BXARE) S FR I o
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

86

HARETER

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

FEREE AR B 5 B R b (e

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables and
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of
lease receivables and trade receivables to the Group's
consolidated financial position and the judgements associated
with the impairment assessment of the lease receivables and
trade receivables.

EREWEEFERE ZHRWHIEE BEEBEGRSFTERK
L E M % WA B SR RN R UK AR SRR B R AR R A A
i FPIER RS RE SR FIEREN (LR
RETEIE -

As at 31 March 2024, the Group'’s aggregate amounts of lease
receivables and trade receivables amounted to HK$38,386,000.
R2024F3H31H - EEENEKREERERE S EW
FIH 4 FE /3 38,386,000 B T ©
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BMNENAHRARETERETRE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
lease receivables and trade receivables included:

HAFInt R U B IR & B 5 WG IB R E T (& T B A A
RFEE:

Understanding how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for lease receivables and trade
receivables;

B R IR B A Al {5t R A B R TE ) B 5 IR LK
BHEEEREE

Challenging management'’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2024, including
the basis of individual assessment, the reasonableness
of management’s grouping of lease receivables and
trade receivables into different categories, and the
basis of estimated loss rate applied in each category
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information);
BREREEEBETN204FT3IA3BHEKEE
FIERESHREFIENEEBREGEMANEE
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Key audit matters
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BARETER

As disclosed in notes 4 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime expected credit loss ("ECL") of lease
receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment or by grouping of various debtors that have similar
risk exposure, after considering internal grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables. Estimated losses are based on
historical observed default rates and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort.

WA ETBREMT4RIIFAEE - EEBEEER
B YA EIE B 5 R WRIBATETEVERIFTE - &
STEWHERIBERE 5 W HIEN 2 BB REEEE (18
HEEBR] 8  BTRKERRWHERERE HEK
FIAMAER S A - B AA BRI D5 SRR KRS
T - Mt ERDRBRTERINEBENERAESL
Wt BB H L EZNE RS NN SR &R

As disclosed in notes 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's lifetime ECL on lease receivables and
trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$15,322,000. A reversal of impairment losses of HKS$ 1,677,000
has been recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.
BMAERE SRR MIE 10 R 31 FTHRER - BEEMR 20245
AN EMEWEEFIARE ZRKKREN ZHFEHEE
J&5 18 %%15,322,00078 7T © Bk 1B 5 15 (@1 1,677,000 8 7T 2 7
REFEBRRPHER °

BMNESNAHRARETERETRE

Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted
by the management for the impairment assessment to
the underlying information used by management, on a
sample basis, with reference to the historical settlement
analysis of lease receivables and trade receivables; and
K2EZRPHEFERESREFENBESEE
DITIE - TR E B IR B RORE 5Tk B P ER AR D
BROXRFEAFAREE  UKREEEMARIEH
BH R

Checking the information used by management for
developing the impairment assessment for lease
receivables and trade receivables, including aged
analysis as at 31 March 2024, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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P ST A% R R

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,

and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Cheung, Chung Yin, Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LLOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ao e 18 s S CH At 2 T A A K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FET
Revenue Uz 5
Goods and services Bk R% 59,550 48676
Leasing of equipment THEXRE 114,520 111,876
Total revenue Pl 174,070 160,552
Cost of sales and services $HE MRS A (122,028) (115,533)
Gross profit EF 52,042 45,019
Other income H A 6 3,232 4,986
Other gains and losses H s K &8 7 2,197 9,913
Impairment losses recognised on BIERYIZE - &
property, plant and equipment, net BB R EE IR R 14 (54) (702)
Reversal of impairment losses RIETEHEEEEEN

(impairment losses) under ECL model BREREE WA &
recognised on lease receivables and Z SR IEREEE

trade receivables, net BR CREEER) FE 31 (3,945)
Impairment losses recognised in DERAEEERRBESE

respect of right-of-use assets - (302)
Administrative expenses THEX (39,847) (37,688)
Selling and distribution expenses ﬁﬁ%& 2kl (1,205) (634)
Share of results of a joint venture Dih—EE B ENEE (2,920) =
Finance costs BhE A AN 8 (1,656) (1,548)
Profit before tax B A5 AT VA 13,466 15,099
Income tax expense FriSfiF S 9 (3,102) (2,323)
Profit for the year INF A 10 10,364 12,776
Other comprehensive expense for the year Z84F & E {th % I ¢
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~ B & nfEF S HEBaVIHE -

to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on RMEBINEBEER

translation of foreign operations fEH =% (877)

Total comprehensive income for the year ZN4E & 2 [ Yt a5 4258 11,899
Earnings per share — basic (HK cents) KB — BB 13 148
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

AR MBHIR DL

At 31 March 2024 72202443 A31 H

NOTES
B aE

Non-current Assets FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment YZE - Mk R ERE 14
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Prepayments and deposits paid for U -

acquisition of property, plant and HENE RN REIE

equipment Riz& 19
Rental deposits ek 19
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRR EFH 16
Interest in a joint venture RE &SRR 17
Deferred tax assets REFRIEAE 24
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories "E 18
Trade and other receivables, B 5 R E AW FRIA -

deposits and prepayments e RIEN B 19
Amount due from a joint venture FERE LS DERRIE 25
Pledged bank deposit EHERRITER 20
Cash and cash equivalents ReE KRB EEY 20
Current Liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A RIER

and accrued charges FEFTE A 21
Amount due to a joint venture BRI A S DERTKIE 25
Contract liabilities EHAE 22
Receipts in advance TR ERFK
Tax liabilities RIEBE
Borrowings — due within one year B — —F AR 23
Deferred income FEEWA 6
Lease liabilities MEARE 26
Net Current Assets REEERE
Total Assets less Current Liabilities RAEERRBERE

2024
2024 &
HK$’000
F&xT

165,925
3,416

174,127

22,453

43,273
5,552
360
93,661

165,299

37,315
420
952

3,975
4,712

38,085

429
3,120

89,008

76,291

250,418

2023
2023 4F
HK$'000
FET

187,121
6,711

198,027

13,834
41,107

360
74,559

129,860

20,105

1,154
11,341
5417
33414
559
3,688

75,678
54,182

252,209

TRAEEERER AR /2024 F F3H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AR IBHIR L3R

At 31 March 2024 72202443 A31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
NOTES HK$’000 HKS$'000
M TET FET
Non-current Liabilities kRBERS
Borrowings B 23 1,068 1,848
Deferred tax liabilities ELEIEAE 24 20,645 22,812
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 399 3,391
22,112 28,051
Net Assets EEFE 228,306 224,158
Capital and Reserves BERR#EiE
Issued capital BEITIRAR 27 864 864
Reserves fEE 227,442 223,294
Total Equity R 228,306 224,158

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 188 were approved ~ EHRE Q2 B E % 188 B Zir & M I MK 2 7 2024
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and are  F6 A26 A E =S /ERIFRETIZE - WH T

signed on its behalf by: EERREE
LAU PONG SING CHAN KIT MUI, LINA
2IF R B2
Director Director
EF EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ara A A B SR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EE 20243 A31 BIEFE

Issued Share Merger Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve  reserve reserve profits Total
B#1T
BE ROEE AORE ZERE EXRE RKREEA @t
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
THr TEr TEr  TEn THEr TEr TEx
(Note i) (Note ii)
(Bari) (BT
At 1 April 2022 R202264 718 864 232345 (102443) 12 1,400 80,081 212,259
Profit for the year AEE G - - - - - 12,776 12,776
Exchange differencesarisingon BN ERELR
translation of foreign operations (B X Z%8 = = = = (877) = (877)
Total comprehensive (expense)  AEE2E (F%)
income for the year Wzsiazs = = = = 877) 12,776 11,899
At31 March 2023 2023463 H318 232,345 (102,443) 224,158
Profit for the year AEE G 10,364

Exchange differencesarisingon BN ERELR
translation of foreign operations B3 =58

Total comprehensive (expense)  AEE2E (F%)

income for the year eyt
Dividend paid ERRE
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3 31 H 232,345
Notes:

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the group
reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

In accordance with Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as
legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital.

(102,443)

GEE

10,364

(5,616)

97,605

(600)

9,764
(5,616)

228,306

EHFEEEAAR B BITRASELBRMD
BERERMN2015F7A21BETERSHEAMR
BOREAHERR AR EITRAZ =5

RBRPIE BT R BEDEAF 377 6 BORFT
AEMEIM B AR AR E S &5 E A DR 25%
WENERELEMRE  EEEIASRE

EA—FHMEHE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Operating activities FE )3
Profit before tax BR A% A1 g A 15,099
Adjustments for: BLLATIEB EH A%
Impairment losses recognised on R - H R ERE
property, plant and equipment [igi! 702
Write-down on inventories WoRfF & 329
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment losses 1R 178 8= B E518 & &R
under expected credit losses recognised on JERFERIERE 5
lease receivables and trade receivables, net FEWGRIE R B & 1
(RBEEERER)FE 3,945
Impairment losses recognised in respect of AR EERERREREE
right-of-use assets 302
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% - B RS EITE 51,624
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 3,955
Finance costs BhE KA 1,548
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &3 - #iH & R B U (8,172
Amortisation of deferred income iR FE T 5 81)
Share of result of a joint venture SME—HEERENEE =
Interest income FLEHA (585)
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEPINKEReRE
in working capital 68,666
Increase in inventories FE®EM (560)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables, &5 KkEMEWIE - HE &
deposits and prepayments TERT FRIER A (38 0) (7.594)
Increase in amount due from a joint venture FE W& & 1b FE B FRIE I AN =
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMERFRIEAR
and accrued charges FERTE A N 5,372
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERD> (63811)
(Decrease) increase in receipts in advance TEUER R O ) 180 6,678
Cash generated from operations EBEMFHES 65,751
Income tax refunded BREFTEHR (305)
Income tax paid B PTSHE 1,229
Net cash from operating activities REXBREREFE 66,675
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

EEHESHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investing activities BEEE
Interest received B UF S 585
Increase in prepayments and deposits WREYDZE ~ W R ER B Y
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment  TBA ZRIE K 3% & 18 hn =
Receipt of subsidies received in relation to LU HE & 2 WCE AR B il B
acquisition of asset 640
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB - W RERE (55,771)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEE - B R R ETERIE
plant and equipment 4,943
Investment in a joint venture REELEMNKRE =
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFTARSFE (39,603)
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BEAFE (1,548)
New borrowings raised IR 24,072
Repayments of borrowings BERER (16,505)
Repayments of loans from a related company BERE —HEBARZER (2,829)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAR (3,977)
Repayment of trade payables EEBZENNIE (7,029)
Dividend paid BB
Net cash used in financing activities RETEARSFE (7,816)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERESEEYEMNEER 19,256
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FIRERBREEEY
of the year 55,717
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEFE R BB B (414)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear F£AREERRELZEY 74,559
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERREEEMERDM
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEEY 74,559
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

1.

98

GENERAL INFORMATION

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINAN (‘l ~'\L STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and other
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition
of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended
to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\;\,\(‘I\L STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group's accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
Fl\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
»‘/‘ﬁ jﬂ’%i&%ﬁﬁn_{

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which
are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the
trustee who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the
retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP
against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition
will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). In
addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of
termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP
in respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” which
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism
and the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has
implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection
with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable
and more relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
(Continued)

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer
MPF contributions that have been vested with the employee and
which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a
deemed contribution by the employee towards the LSP. Historically,
the Group has been applying the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed employee contributions
as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
mandatory contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to
the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory employer
MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still be used to offset
the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not be
appropriate to view the mandatory contributions as “independent of
the number of years of service” and the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these
deemed contributions should be attributed to periods of service in
the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a)
of HKAS 19.

The Group has recognised a cumulative catch-up adjustment in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024, with a corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation. The change in accounting policy
as a result of application of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

BAFITESHBREEN (B8
BEREER ) RETARLEE
RN BE (%)

R B 4 AV TR B8 M 3R
EERARIERT A (&)
HEEESTMASREBEUHEHMED
BE(REE)) — REBRZE(RERE))
3508 5 B0 S B 82 B AT % 9 35 B T F
HETBRERE (F)

AEBEEREEIEGIERBESHAMES
BENET  YAIAREHEETHRERE
BANWRFT R RRETHRREMR
R - HEL LR AKE-—HERE
BT ERE 1955 B0) RN BB EET]
% BRAR THAME D E SN EMHRA
B AR TS BRI IR AE A AN IRl > ©

RIEFEGEIAGHES] - ARZEUE
BEEHR T BRE R [EEZHRER
M ARTSAERE ] - HRER B R B E R
158 18 & 3D AT AR BUR B AT H & AR
SEME - Bt - FRBIEEFRR [BILR
RBFEH I A TEE  MEBSAERE
195 FROBENERRE ST AETBE
AR BREBEEGHENE 195
5 93(a) R AR E K % F RIR & 18 M AR
MRRT A BN ARTSHIA o

AREBEREE2024F3831BIEEER
BRPERAZRRERF  YHEREE
FHETHERAZE HRERBEESFMA
CHEBICERN B BB B R RS
HEIMEETIESIMEE SRR - A%

ERRBEFENMBRRRERIRRE, K
ZEGREAEMBHREMABINBEBRLES K

=47
FEo

DEBHEERER AR /2024FFH 103



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
HKAS 28 Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA
»wh 3

AR5 ¥ 3R M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
“/]? Zl‘ 3’% $&%§ |§'ﬁ‘ n}:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REAEVMEBRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL TEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EAREFHEERER

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\\,\(‘I \L STATEMENTS
,;yj'% Zh’%i&%% I}f—j lil£

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
aTBURE S (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

EAXEHREER )

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
ajoint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
a joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group's share of losses
of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint
venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REAEVMEBRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEFEEER@E

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S R AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REVBEBRRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEFEEER@E

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and machinery are estimated
individually.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy is initially measured
at cost and subsequently, the policy premium, expense and
insurance charges, interest income of the deposit placed is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FIN ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBBRRNGREERERS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FTEERER #)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXEHRE)
Inventories 78
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FERKA R AR FERNERIEE
value. Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in, PIER o« FEMAIRLASLLIEERE -
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated AR REEFE ZMFEERE—
selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to make the P EFTERKA o BITHEER KA
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental PREAEERETHEVAEE ZH
costs directly attributable to the sale non-incremental costs EIERIE KA B RN Z BRI -

which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELEEY

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the statement of ReRREZBYRUBRAEZ

financial position include: 5 - B
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand . Re HeEFHEBReREH
deposits, and T &k
cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term . ReEBY HeFmEH0RE
(generally with original maturity of three months or BRIAAZEARER)
less), highly liquid investments that are readily ApERF SN AE NEEE SR
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are BEZDRARTIANSREME
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash RE - ReEBYRIERRE
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short- B3R S AE - MIEARIEE K
term cash commitments rather than for investment or HEMBH -

other purposes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S R AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REVBEBRRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EAREHBXERE)
Financial instruments £RTE

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE IS R [ R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LEUBBRNVEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STBERER (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

112

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\\,\(‘I \L STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMKBRRNEREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL TR ER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(H)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including rental deposits, trade and other
receivables, amount due from a joint venture, pledged bank
deposit and bank balances) and lease receivables which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REAEVMEBRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXEHRE)
Financial instruments (Continued) LT HE(E)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

GANBRANEUELREAR
SRS (50

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

EWMIA(E)
M EE(E)
ARBEBRUBHEEREIRET
BEFFEHEMEERAMEER K956

B (&)
()  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () 1EERREZEME)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, om L STk ey A5 R el - /]
there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has IREBHRER - 680K

increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for those the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
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have low credit risk when it has an internal or external REEEREERR - KNEET
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally BB IE 2 A INBEERT
understood definitions. BIRBEBERAIEERES &

BERBIR - FEREEBT

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

116 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

ARG EEERR -

AEBEREEAURERE
HE,AE@E%i*tumﬁiﬁEm;ﬂz
o WHEE BIRELEET
W FELR A BATR 22 BE ST 3K
L ER AT Eﬁmﬁhﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
20 e



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\\,\(‘L\L STATEMENTS
A B R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, there is rebuttable
presumption that default does not occur later than
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
since the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

(c) itis becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

GANBRANEUELREAR
SRS (50

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
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determined with the respective risks of default occurring EHBAEORRNEREIERN

as the weights. R BB T B E B2 A B R N
HFE o

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —Ri 5 - REAEEEEAIR

contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that

BANENAKBEZAERHN
B & 8 BN 5 B 75 5 8 W R

the Group expects to receive, discounted at the ZEeREREE  Wiky
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. RIERFFEE < BRA = EE
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for R pEREEREAEMS

determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and lease
receivables are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped with reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments; and

Past-due status.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of lease
receivables and trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amount due to a joint venture and borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMKBRRNEREEREARS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL TR ER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(H)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of rented premises and equipment that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; and

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components
are separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REVBEBRRNEREERERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EAREHBXERE)
Borrowing costs B

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period, in which they are incurred as the Group does not have
any qualifying asset, which is asset that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REAEVKBRNEREXERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXEHRE)
Taxation i

(&)

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax" because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(H)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

BiE (%)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
sTBURER (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXEHRE)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF"
Scheme) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes, are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FL\\,\(‘I XL STATEMENTS

W?l?

A BB B 5 E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and lease
receivables

Credit-impaired trade receivables and lease receivables are assessed
for ECL individually. In addition, the Group determines the ECL for
the remaining trade receivables and lease receivables by grouping of
various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal grouping of lease receivables and trade receivables.
Estimated losses are based on historical observed default rates and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable and available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

At 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables and
lease receivables are HK$2,319,000 (2023: HK$2,568,000) and
HK$36,067,000 (2023: HK$35,259,000), net of allowance for credit loss
of HK$286,000 (2023: HK$450,000) and HK$15,036,000 (2023:
HK$16,549,000) respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables and lease receivables are disclosed in note
31.

4.

fhEt FREMNEERIR
RERAEBENZBOR (AR E3AE
) E - ARBERREHBRBERN M
KERESHEERAGBREEMNHE - &
E‘HSHEMX ZEHE RAARERERILDER B
ERBERERAR/FRNEMER - BERS
%&*ﬁ_%w AL E bR -

EZ%@.#&*HFé@ﬂ?“ﬂ?ﬂ%f‘f%%%ﬁ%
et o MEEHEFTES R ERE -
AEBETER 1&.# ABN BN HAHERR o fiw 3% IR
Gt 2 BT B RARAR - B
BT ERNA RIAR HRER -

AT RRBERR - LRKREMEET
EEMENEZRFEMELHNERRR @ %
ER[/ERNER T EHRFENEER
EEZEENABRNEANRR

EZEURERERBEFIRNREE
FHl
= ERE R 5 R WA K R & SRS

TERTERE BB - i - AEE
ERHAEGEURBRNSEGEEAETS
M EBETFHESRERFIEREREER
EMEHEEEE SR EREKEE
//\IE&T%JEW/AIEE'JW*B D4R o [hETES
BHRBERBRENERTE  UHEBAE
RHETKERNBE RN NI SRIEEER
ETHE - EZRERY  BEERIN
BHORETEHTEH TEEEAEMEE
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(2023 4F : 2,568,000 JT. ) K 36,067,000 7% 7T
(20234 : 35259000/ 7C) * EFRIEEE
B BB D Bl B286000%8 JT(2023%F ¢
450,000/ 7T ) 15,036,000/ JT (2023 4F :
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BB AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Revenue

5. WHERpEHBER
(@ Wz

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FFEHNWRZNAIE

customers

Sales of
machinery

and parts
BRR
BHEE
HK$'000
TR

Geographical markets 5
Hong Kong EN 24,383
Macau bl 337
Singapore s 140

Total st 24,860

Timing of revenue  WHEERAEY

recognition
A point in time E-ERHmER 24,860
Overtime FaRF IR -
Total @t
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE202453A31HLEFE
Lease
related  Repairand
operating maintenance Delivery Installation
services service service service
HHEER #ER
WERERE  RERE KRR ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

17,245
10
4,888

22,143

22,143

22,143

Total

HK$'000
TR

54,055
467
5,028

59,550

30,529
29,021

59,550



5.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA
»wh 3

AR5 ¥ 3R M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Revenue (Continued)

(i

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

5. RBERDIBER (5

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Wt (48)

) EFAHWBENIE|(E)

BZ0n3F3A31BLEFE
Lease
Sales of related Repairand
machinery operating  maintenance Delivery Installation
and parts services service service service Total
KRk HHERH #ER
THEE MBRERE  RERE  RERE  RERE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Geographical markets 13237
Hong Kong 0 19,326 16,647 4,401 5,355 635 46,364
Macau B 460 10 4 162 8 682
People’s Republicof — FEE AR HAIE
China ("PRC") ([E ) 712 - - - - 712
Singapore s - 918 - - - 918
Total @t 20498 17,575 4443 5517 643 48676
Timingof revenue  WHBRBH
recognition
A pointin time FRRHER 20498 = = 5517 = 26015
Over time RERS TR RER - 17575 4443 - 643 22,661
Total @t 20498 17,575 4443 5517 643 48676
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
Fl\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from
contracts with customers and recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted
by the customer. The customer has full discretion over
the usage of the goods, and has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 0 to 90 days upon invoice
issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when it signs the sale
and purchase agreement. The deposits will be
recognised as revenue when the customer obtains
control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed
within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related operating services income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong
Kong and other geographical markets by sending
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the
job sites of its customers. Such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs. The Group applied the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the
amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which the
Group bills based on the time charged by the
equipment operators. The normal credit term is 0 to 45
days upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.
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5.
(a)
(ii)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FL\\,\(‘ML STATEMENTS

W]?

A BB B 5 E

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)
Lease related operating services income (Continued)

The contract periods for lease related operating service
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related other services income

The Group's other services income, which arise from
rental arrangements including repair, maintenance,
delivery and installation services. Revenue from delivery
service is recognised when the goods have been
delivered to the customer’s specific location. Revenue
from repair, maintenance and installation services are
recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. The Group applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the amount that the
Group has the right to invoice based on the terms of
the relevant agreements in which the Group bills based
on the time charged. The normal credit term is 0 to 45
days upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related other services are
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FlN ANCIAL STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

5.

e

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Revenue (Continued)
(iii) Leases

5.

For operating leases:

Lease payments that are fixed

REEHEMS -

BEFEHENK

W=k o EHER (&)
(a) Wz (&)
(iii) HE
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
111,876

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there is

no contingent rental recognised.

(b) Segmentinformation

For management purpose, the Group is organised based on
its business activities. The Group determines its operating
segments based on these business activities that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the
executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of

resources allocation and performance assessment.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

Leasing —

Leasing of equipment, lease related operating

services and other services including repair
and maintenance service, delivery service and

installation service

Trading —

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

Sales of machinery and parts
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5.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% 202443 A31 BIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment information (Continued)
Segment information about these reportable and operating

(b)

segments is presented below:

Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 March 2024

Revenue

Leasing of equipment

Lease related operating services
Repair and maintenance service
Delivery service

Installation service

Sales of machinery and parts

iy 5

HER

THE AR E AR
HE RIRE R
IR 3X AR5

23R IR

e e T HE

Segment revenue

Results EE

Segment results DEBHEE
Unallocated income R BEWA
Unallocated expenses ADEHX
Unallocated exchange losses R BobE X EE

Share of results of a joint venture

DME—HRBELENES

Consolidated profit before
tax of the Group

REBRAR A RS A

W]‘

5.

Wz R 2 ERE R (50)
(b) 2EER ()

BRALST2HIELEDH

#

Py

RTXE5 :

EL €IS

B2 2024F3 H31 HIFFZE

Leasing
HE
HK$’000
FET

114,520
22,143
5,747
5,669
1,131

149,210

38,820
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Trading
BEE
HK$’000
FET

24,860

24,860

Total
At
HK$’000
FTET

114,520
22,143
5,747
5,669
1,131
24,860

174,070

45,113

2,865
(31,277)
(315)
(2,920)

2
)



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

5.

IS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.

Wk o BE R (@)

(b) Segmentinformation (Continued) (b) DHTER(E)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) 2EB UL I 4R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BB 20233 A31 HIFFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE == HEt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Revenue =
Leasing of equipment HEHRME 111,876 = 111,876
Lease related operating services 7 & BRI /ERRTS 17,575 = 17,575
Repair and maintenance service — #{& RIRE RS 4,443 - 4,443
Delivery service X AR 7S 5517 = 5517
Installation service 2 H R 643 = 643
Sales of machinery and parts e R Z 1 HE - 20,498 20,498
Segment revenue pob: g 140,054 20,498 160,552
Results ]
Segment results e LA 37,906 4551 42,457
Unallocated income Ao EEUWA 804
Unallocated expenses RABLF (29,903)
Unallocated exchange gains R o> B b 5 WS 1,741
Consolidated profit before tax AEBRGZEBTANEF
of the Group 15,099

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
earned by each segment without allocation of interest income
and certain sundry income, exchange (losses) gains, central
administration expenses and share of results of a joint venture.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities are presented as the information is not
regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EE 20243 A31 BIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Impairment losses recognisedon B FERMIE » #H Kk
property plantand equipment, net SR EREEEEE

Reversal of impairment losses ERERRKEETER
recognised on lease receivables 2 SRR ERSE

and trade receivables, net B
Write-down on inventories HRFE
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #%  #4 J R G E
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFAEEETE
Gain on disposal of property, I EME - B R

plant and equipment

WJ‘

5. WERIWBER @

(b)

Leasing
e
HK$000
Tz

DEER(E)
Hoth G R
B F 202443 H31 HIFFE

Trading
BER

HK$'000

TR

Unallocated

ROE

HK$'000

TR

Total
st
HK$'000
THET

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE2023F 3 H31 HILFE
Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
il BE APE Fe
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET FAT TAT
Impairment losses recognised on EEE AUE - K
property plant and equipment, net R &R BB 12558 702 - - 702
Impairment losses recognisedon B HEREAREEERERSE
right-of-use assets 302 - - 302
Impairment losses recognisedon B fERRREUFR & 2B K
lease receivables and trade B NGB R EER
receivables, net eis: 3,792 153 - 3,945
Write-down on inventories WRFE - 329 = 329
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - 4 KRG E
equipment 50913 42 669 51,624
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {F FEEEITE 3,859 = 9% 3,955
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - B R
plant and equipment 8172 - - 8172
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BB AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 202443 A31 B L FE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WER2BER @)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZWERE)
Geographical information HEER
The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly AEERBINBELHIR R EZHTAE
derived from customers located in Hong Kong, Macau, the BAES RN PEERFNENE
PRC and Singapore, which is determined based on the P sk E P M EE -
location of customers.

2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS'000
TExT T

External revenue: SNEB U 2
Hong Kong BB 157,549 149,670
Macau SBFY 3,891 4,048
PRC = 158 1,156
Singapore i 12,472 5678
174,070 160,552

The Group's non-current assets based on the geographical
location of the group companies owning these assets are as

follows:

FEENFRDEE(REALETE
ENEERAREEMAEMIEMNE S

)T

2024 2023
2024 F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET

Non-current assets: IEMEEE ¢
Hong Kong s> 156,680 182,952
Macau B PY 1,955 2,825
PRC Hh 5,077 5,729
Singapore #rhns 6,718 2,750
170,430 194,256

Note: Non-current assets excluded rental deposits, deposit placed for
a life insurance policy and deferred tax assets.

Mz ERBEETBREESES SR
REFRFELERIBEEE °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.
(b) Segment information (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customer during the year contributing over

10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Wzt & 2 EBE L (50
(b) ZEERE)
FHEEEFNEN

NEFEAREE AR 10% B
IasE 5T

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

Customer A* BE A*

22,481 17,714

* Revenue from leasing and trading segments

OTHER INCOME 6. HfzlA
2024 2023
2024 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T T
Interest income from: FEWAKRE :
— bank deposits — RITIFHK 488
— deposit placed for a life insurance policy — HRIREFXK 97
Government grants (note i) AT HE B (B e 1) 3,337
Subsidies related to acquisition of assets BT E E AR AR (M)
(note ii) 81
Sundry income FIEWA 983
4,986
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

6.

138

OTHER INCOME (Continued) 6. HMUWA @

Notes: P5E

0) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised 0) HE2023F3A3ALFE  AEBEGH
government grants of HK$2,292,000 and HK$485,000 in respect of BB XORPFI BT PR # Covid-19 48 A 78 Bk
Covid-19-related subsidies provided by the Hong Kong and Macau 2 B e SRR 46 B 2,292,000 7 JT K2 485,000
governments, respectively. The remaining government grant of PETT o #8 T ER AT B 476,000 7 7T I 84,000
HK$476,000 and HK$84,000 represented the subsidies provided by the BILORERERRDBE Rt 8l KB E
Youth Employment and Training Programme and Vocational Training RBDIRGLHFRL ©
Council in Hong Kong, respectively.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has received iy HZE2023F3A3NBLFE  AEERE
subsidies of HK$640,000 from the Construction Innovation and ELRENTE LNEERRNEEEEE
Technology Fund in Hong Kong for acquisition of a crane mounted on Bl BHE & W ER 640,000 78 TT KO FE AL © 5% @
a new motor vehicle. The amount has been treated as deferred HEREARIERA - Z2HENBHEE
income. The amount is amortised and transferred to income over the ERAMERFINEETEREWA -
useful lives of the relevant asset.

Movement of deferred income is as follows: RIEWA B BT -
Deferred income
EZEWA
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2022 M2022F4 A1 8 -

Machinery related subsidies received in relation to UL EE & 2 U ER B A Ak 4B B il B

acquisition of asset 640
Amortisation in the current year RARE F# (81)
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F3H31H 559
Amortisation in the current year RARE F#H (130)
At 31 March 2024 202453 431 H 429
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4E A S R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EE 20243 A31 BIEFE

7. HttKRmRER

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHT

Exchange (losses) gains, net
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

BE 3, (518 et /3 58 (315) 1,741
HEWE - R SRR
2,512 8,172

2,197 9913

FINANCE COSTS

8. MMEmMAK

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

Interest on borrowings (note 23)
Interest on trade payables
Interest on lease liabilities (note 26)

f& 5 F B (MI5E23) 1,460 1273
HEaEr L (Mize) 196 166

1,656 1,548
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE IS R [ R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. MBHAX
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FHEIT
Current tax; BNHARRIA

Hong Kong Profits Tax BAETER 3,709

Overprovision in prior years: BAEFEBERE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BB FEN (313)
Deferred tax (note 24) RIERLIA (M 5E24) (1,073)
2,323

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% (2023: 12%) of the estimated
assessable profit exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of
dividend paid for both years. No provision for Macau
Complementary Income Tax had been made as it had no assessable
profits for both years.

For subsidiary registered in the PRC, under the Law of the PRC on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%
(2023: 25%). No provision for EIT had been made as it had no
assessable profits for both years.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2023: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for the
year ended 31 March 2023. No provision for Singapore income tax
was made for the year ended 31 March 2024 as the assessable profits
were absorbed by the tax losses brought forward.
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BEMESHMARH  AEREEERENE?
BEBITE MBS 25% M - MiBiE2H
S TTRE MBI BIZ 165% T - TEFAF
SHMAGNEE TR MG EER
16.5% HY 48 — Bt REAH o

RNRPIEMOMB AR ME @ ZMESF
EWRPIFMESRHATRIZRNGREIREREE
72 18 600,000 9 7T &Y fily 51 FE &R B it ) &Y
129% (2023 4F < 12%) 5t & - BRAKER A
FEWERRT RS - BRETIRRPIAT
ISR -

RRPEFMEINHEBRARIMS @ BIE
FERGEMSRE((SEMEBH A kit
EmMBHEAERED - PRENEQRAER
25% (2023 4F : 25%) BB HEFTEH - AR
FEzmEFEYERRBEERN - BRGaT
RIEMSHEE -

RN DN A B B A B B 12 17%(2023FF ¢
17%) BI B R BANFT I FT 1S RL - ARRTEE
F2023F3A3NBILEFEEERTER -
MABHEF IS HEE - ARER
20244F 3 A 31 B IEFE FE R B w1 4 82
MRS BB - BURBEHRIT I FT
1SR -



INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EE 20243 A31 BIEFE

9.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

FRr&HBA (40)

AEERSHAXEGAREREME2E

Woan < Pk BR B A s A E BRI T

Profit before tax

BR T A A

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5%
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose
Tax effect of share of results of
a joint venture
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax loss previously
not recognised
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions
Overprovision in prior years
Income tax at concessionary rate

RERBE 165% -t EMBIA
THHBA BB &

BARRBARNREZE

DME—HABRENREDN
BBRE

AERRBBIEORBT &
158 P S5 B AR RERR MY B 155 5 18

REMADEEERLZN
MEBARMREERNTE

BEFEBERE

BREEREFEHMEH

Income tax expense for the year

REZREHRAX

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
13,466 15,099
2,222 2,491
1,031 423
(468) (662)
482 _
575 749
(274) -
(113) (200)
(188) (313)
(165) (165)
3,102 2323

TRAEEERER AR /2024 F F3H
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BB AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. AFEEHEF

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

charging:

Auditor's remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses,
including write-down of inventories of

HK$437,000 (2023: HK$329,000)
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Staff costs:
Directors’ emoluments (note 11)
Other staff costs:

— Salaries, allowances and other benefits

— Retirement benefits scheme
contributions (note)

NER T 518 B REAF RS A

ZEE I &
ERIERTNEERAR
(B IEMURTE & 437,000 7% 7T
(20234 : 329,000/ 7T))
ME - B REETE

EREEENE

BTRRA :

EEHE (FFE)
HAh B TAA :

—&e  EMREAMER

— BRI IR &I R (K AE)

Total staff costs

BB TR
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2024
2024 F
HK$°000
FHBxT

2023
2023
HK$'000
FHET

1,740

8,791

51,624
3,955

7,618

47,573

1,688

49,261

56,879



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\;\,\(‘I\L STATEMENTS

»‘/]?

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong

employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of
each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 (2023: HK$30,000) per month.

The eligible employees of the Company's subsidiaries in the Macau,
the PRC and Singapore are members of pension schemes operated
respective local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is required to
contribute MOP60 for every employee per month. The subsidiary in
the PRC is required to contribute a certain percentage ranging from
0.2% to 14% of the relevant cost of the payroll of these employees to
the pension schemes to fund the benefits for both years. The
subsidiary in Singapore is required to contribute 16% of the
employee’s monthly gross salary. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contribution under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,838,000
(2023: HKS$1,741,000), comprised HK$36,000 and HK$1,802,000 (2023:
HK$53,000 and HK$1,688,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff
costs respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to
the schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of
the reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.

10. AFERF (4

PeE

$%@Eﬁ§/ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&j€ﬁi a1l o 5T
BMEENBY ERAEENESERS
FIFHE - NBEMERAR RS FT 851
BAREEIZE R B P 30,0007 7T (2023 F -
30,0007 7)) & LR &I A FE B % 5% 8 E
SRETERER o

ARATREP - BRI A B A R
MEEREERSENRFERNEKRE
FHEIKE - RFINBARASARESR
BB #5R60RFITT - BRI E A BZAM
RASFEEHZERERBHSKAN
F02%E 14% BB DL E - AB
ZMEFREEBIREES - H KT
RAAFES AHFESBIER 16% MK -
REBERBRAKENG BB EAIR
IRETEI R PTZAMER -

RERBSIER 2 KA B 55 1,838,0007%5
JC (2023 4F : 1,741,00087T) * BIED R A
36,0007 JT 1,802,000/ JT(20234F :
53,0007 7T & 1,688,000/ 7T) I EME &
Hfb B TR H$%§?ﬁ$¢ﬁm%%
TEE BB SERHER - REREHIR - I
52 WA (R FR AT it ,ﬂm;kx HREME -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

»\Zﬁ Eﬁﬂ’%i&%‘% |§ﬁ nf

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. % - BTBRAERESMS
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the BRREMNARARESHMESFBOT ¢
Company are as follows:

Other emoluments
Hiti &

Basic
salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions

EXxFHe -
)= 3:1:954 BREF
we His @7l HE FEEA
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BIT FHET FHT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HZ2024%3H31HILLEE

Executive directors: HITES :

Lau Pong Sing ZUFBK,

Chan Kit Mui, Lina BRZH
Non-executive director: FHTES -

Tomokatsu Nakazawa HERR
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITEE :

Li Ping Chi FRE

Siu Chak Yu wETF

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond g%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z 202343 A31HILEE

Executive directors: HITES :
Lau Pong Sing 2IFBAK - 3273 18 3291
Chan Kit Mui, Lina 2 G = 3,158 35 3,193
Non-executive director: FHTES -
Tomokatsu Nakazawa RERR = = = =
Independent non-executive directors: B IFHITESE :
Li Ping Chi FRE 252 = = 252
Siu Chak Yu HEF 252 - = 252
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond g% 630 - - 630
1,134 6,431 53 7618
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11.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S R AL

W
For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the non-
executive directors for both years. The non-executive director waived
his emoluments in the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. There
was no other arrangement under which a director or the Chief
Executive of the Company waived or agreed to other waive any
remuneration for both years.

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased
from a third party to Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina for use by her and her
family members at no charge. The relevant short term lease expense
is HK$160,000 (2023: HK$480,000).

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, two (2023: two) of them were directors of the Company,

11.

EE BRETRAERESEMS
(#)
BIMKEENRARRRBHITRAR -
XAEBEEME B ERARBITRAR
RERBHOBS -

|_|_

FMSTEEHES T BHERETEARNAA
EAREEZBERUREEB - LB
HWITEEWS EBHEARETARAES
RERBEERE o ZMEFERERIERT
EEIHE o SERTTE S REER T 2024
FR2BFIANBUEFENHH - A2
AEFTYAmE=ITHRABRZMEFE AL
ERES R ERET MM EMBLTHE -

rEE—EHEERHAE=HFEAMEE
EFERRIEZ T RERKEKEFER - 1HE
EHMAE M X 51600008 JT(20234F ¢
480,000 7T) °

AEE AEBLARERHFALTTRE
(2034 : MEB) RARAESE - HMEE

whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the SFAEXR 2 T=R02023F: =&) A
remaining three (2023: three) individuals were as follows: THBESLT :
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Basic salaries and allowance and BEAXRF & ROER R H MR
other benefits 2,978
Discretionary bonus E"J’E?EZI 382
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R Ri@FIET 24t 2% 54
3414
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE IS R [ R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. EE - EeTRAEREEM £
EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not directors of MenFTIEERERRRESRSH
the Company whose remuneration within the following band is as BEHBWT :

follows:

Nil to HKS$ 1,000,000 =2 1,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

1,000,001 & 7T 2 1,500,000 75 7T

pLip2 2023

2024 F 2023 4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A N

1

2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during both years.

DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as distribution of the company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 represented final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2023 of HK0.65 cent per share, totally HK$5,616,000 (2023:
nil) in aggregate.

Subsequent to the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2024 of HK0.60 cent per ordinary share, in an
aggregate amount of HKS$5,184,000 has been proposed by the
directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting (2023:
HKO0.65 cent per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of
HK$5,616,000).

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

AEEXMEFEYEAARABESERT
EBERHFAL(BEEEERES) XNHE
1 A3 0 B 7K 5= 581 a8 A0 B2 s ) 2R D o B Rk A

f& e

R E
MEE2024F3A31BLEFECDERAR
NED KR EMEE R EZE 202343 A31
AIEFEFRRBRGBoHEN BE A
5,616,000 8 7L R AR BN 2 (2023 F - £8) ©

REFEEHAN RARESEEZHE R
2024F3 A3 HIEFRIRMNREBREFRKR
TR 0.60 78 - B4 5,184,000 87T © Ik
BRARSAFRENEERFEAFAS
LB (2023 F - GREBAR065 N - &
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4E A S R M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% 202443 A 31 B IEFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners RATHEEABEERERBRIHIERT
of the Company is based on the following data: PIBIRFE ¢

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&x FET

Profit for the year attributable to owners BARETESRERZF AR A
of the Company for the purpose of basic WA AFE(G A EE s R

earnings per share 12,776
'000
T &
Number of shares St 2 4E!
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose AR s+ E B IREAREFIH
of basic earnings per share L m AR I B 864,000 864,000
Note: The calculations of the basic earnings per share for both years are Wizt : MEAEEERERNENTIRAATES A
based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company using the RN R ENDBEITROERETE -
number of shares in issue during the year.
No diluted earnings per share is presented for both years as there B PN B R B BT TR - 2 S

were no potential ordinary shares in issue. ZMEFENSREERT -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W R I AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CosT AR

At 1 April 2022 R0nE4A18
Additions NE

Transfer from inventories BFEER
Reclassification ENnE
Disposals HE

Exchange realignment B 5 5%

At31 March 2023 RuBF3A31R
Additions AE

Transfer from inventories B EERE
Disposals HE

Exchange realignment ik

At 31 March 2024 R204E3431R

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTH7 & & /&

At 1 April 2022 R002F4A18
Provided for the year EERE
Impairment losses BN BRI
recognised inprofitorloss — REETR
Reclassification A8
Eliminated on disposal HERTH
Exchange realignment B 5 %

At 31 March 2023 R023E3A31H
Provided for the year FRERRR

Impairment losses recognised in & M85 FEFAHY

profit or loss REBE
Eliminated on disposal HERTE
Exchange realignment B 5 %
At 31 March 2024 2024534318
CARRYING VALUES RAEE
At 31 March 2024 2024534318
At 31 March 2023 R2023%E3A31H

Plantand
machinery

PR R

HKS'000
TAL

493,59
39,166
8,705
2,240
(22,094)
(1,269)

520,344
27,997
196
(23,761)
(816)

523,960

305,257
49431

702
876
(15323)
(257)

340,686
42,750

54
(17,994)

(99)

365,397

158,563

179658

Office
equipment

WOERME
HKS'000

3153
150

808

14. Y%¥ - WK XA

Furniture
and Leasehold
fixtures improvements
HAR g
BE#E ML
HKS'000 HK$'000
FHT

414 6,892
31 23
(1) -
24 =

409 5899
31 395
(M -

2 =

27 621

Motor
vehicles

12122
1518

(876)
(4,09%)

5954

Tools

I&
HK000

53

Total

@it
HKS'000
TAT

522498
44726
8,705
(26,191)
(1,281)

548,457

30,368

553,609

328,686
51624

702

(19420)
(256)

361,336

45,220

387,684

165,925

187121
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ZE A H

A5 A S T R MY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

14. Y% - W KRRE &)
FatE - W KEREEB R FEISRER

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated

on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

Plant and machinery 15% to 30%
Others 20%

Details of pledge of plant and machinery is set out in note 34.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out plant and machinery under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one month. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments. The plant and
machinery disclosed in the above table represents the machinery
leased out under operating leases.

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group assessed and concluded if there was
indication for impairment by reference to the utilisation and income
generated from the plant and machinery in recent years, and
impairment assessment are conducted on recoverable amounts of
the plant and machinery with impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the plant and machinery are estimated individually.

The determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is based
on the higher of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal.
Value in use is based on the estimation on the future profitability
from leasing the assets, future utilisation and future lease rates; and
fair value less cost of disposal is based on the estimation on resale
values, with reference to the historical disposal values and cost of
disposal, or market transactions. The recoverable amount of plant
and machinery was determined based on at fair value less cost of
disposal categorised into level 2. Based on the fair value less cost of
disposal, impairment losses of HK$54,000 (2023: impairment losses
of HK$702,000) has been recognised against the carrying amount of
plant and machinery.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s accumulated impairment losses of
plant and machinery was HK$6,217,000 (2023: HK$6,163,000).

BUABAREIL THIFRIFE

T3 R e 15% % 30%
EAh 20%

BRAMES MM E BRI -

AEBBHEA

AEBNAREHET L EMER R -

%ﬂ‘i—ﬂﬁ%ﬂbﬁ%ﬁﬁ—{lﬂ FEMREHT
EEENK - AEKLEEENEH

%ﬁ&%ﬁﬂaﬂ\ii@ﬁﬂ&s&ﬁ%&% 28 MW A -

B
AEEERENGYSLER  SBOF
2R R E AT RPTELEWA - W
REBENE - A BEFRORER
00 T IR R 1T AL AT IR
WA AR & TSR ERIRT A o

BEAKRODCEENEFAEERALBEZ
PEREERBERAETE - FHEEER
HEEE RREABARRKBAEERD
RRBFGENEL T MARBERLE
BATDDEREEEEEMNGHEL - WL
LEREHEBERBERSN  HWHR
5o MEDEMOAT KB SEERDEA
FE_ERRAAEREERARETE - ERN
ARERDERAFTHE - B BHES R
B AR [ (B T SRR BB 18.54,00078 7T (2023 4F
SRE 518 702,000 78 7T ) °

202483 A31 B » N5 B B 28 K R
2 5t 1B &5 18 56,217,000 JT (2023 4F ¢
6,163,000 78 7T) °
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FlN ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 % 20243 A31 BILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

150

15. EREEE

pLip2 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Carrying amount AREE
— leased properties —HEWE 6,711
Depreciation charge heEs
— leased properties —HEWE 3,955
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss 718 %5 Fp #E 2 AU R (B B 18
— leased properties —HEWE 302
2024 2023
2024 20236
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases BHEEHEENRE
— in respect of rented premises — B@HERAER 5,002
Total cash outflow for leases HERS ML LBE 9,145
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEENRE 8445

For both years, the Group leases warehouses for its operations. The
leases are fixed lease payments. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of two to three years (2023: two to three years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for rented
premises and machinery. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the

security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

16. DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY

16. SRERERFM

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T T

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRIREF K

2,983

The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with an
insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,757,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$332,000 (equivalent to HK$2,497,000) which
includes a fixed policy premium charge and a deposit. Monthly
policy expense and insurance charges will be incurred over the
insurance period with reference to the terms set out in the Policy.
The insurance company will pay the Group a guaranteed interest
rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable return per annum
afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest rate of 2%) during
the effective period of the Policy. The Group may request full
surrender of the Policy at any time and receive cash back based on
the value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the policy expense and insurance premium
charge. If such withdrawal is made between the first to eighteenth
policy year, a pre-determined specified surrender charge will be
imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. The policy premium, expense and
insurance charges are recognised in profit or loss and any interest
income of the deposit placed is recognised in profit or loss.

AEEERB ARG B SRIRE([RE]) -
BARB —REEERR - BERE &=
ABRREHBAEBARAGKBAR  ME
2R 58 41,000,000 % 7T (FA L 7,757,000 78
JL) °

REIRER  NEBAX N —2BEHN
7X332,0003 7T (B 7 2,497,000/ 7T ) * &
REERRERTFR - FARBEZ KRR
FEEBNRBIANSBRENEGRE
o REBARBRAER L EHFREF
La42%  WRERREESTHATE I
Al E R (RERBFEE2%) - NEEA]
PERFESR2EEER  WWEHAERERA
HRE(EE (REMREBEIMNRFTEEF
BIHBRRERZ RIREFEEMETE) D
BE - MRE—EZF+N\BAREFEZMH
RIR - AEBEBESNECRRFESE -

ARBAEEBR/RE T\ BAREFEAR
IFREMAREMEE  RBRARENETE
BHEEREREEFTE - RE X
RRBFEERNERER  MAFERFR
R E R B A TR B s FERR
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17. INTERESTIN A JOINT VENTURE 17. REELENES
pLip2 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
Cost of investments in a joint venture EEPEK B -
Share of post-acquisition reserves W EN DR -
The joint venture is accounted for using equity method in the BEPEUBIEARGAEVEHRE - &
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 March 2024, the joint FE224F3A31H AEDEHAEEY
venture is not material to the Group. BEBATE -
Aggregate information of the joint venture that is not material: BECENFERELER
pLip2 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
The Group's share of losses and total AEEEEBEREZARX
comprehensive expense (note) (FF5E) =
Note: According to the joint venture agreement, when the loss exceeds sk : RIS Z WS EEEBAMAEELED
their interests in the joint venture, all joint venture partners are R TESSEBEMEYAESIER
required to share the loss. The loss exceeding the interest in the joint Ko FBIBA L 1 ¥ M 542000078 TTE
venture of HK$420,000 has been recognised for the year ended 31 BEREZ2024F3 A31 BNEERR
March 2024, with a corresponding adjustment to the amount due to a WHE AR EMNAE SN ENSEE -

joint venture.

e
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INVENTORIES 18. #&
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Equipment i 11,292 5129
Spare parts T4 11,161 8,705
22,453 13,834
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 19. ESREMERFIE - REREF
AND PREPAYMENTS IE
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Lease receivables from: FEM T B A B e & 5R0H -
— outsiders — INRATE 50,891 51,596
— arelated company — —fEI g~ A 212 212
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses & : TEHA{E B EBE (15,036) (16,549)
36,067 35,259
Trade receivables from contracts with REBRFEAHNE S EWRTE
customers 3,018
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses  J& : TEHA{S BB RE (450)
2,568
Value added tax recoverable aJ Y [B] 3% (F 5 74
Rental deposits paid EEESES 650
Other deposits and prepayments Eize RIERIE 3,630
42,181
Analysed as: DR
Current TEh 41,107
Non-current — prepayments and deposits ~ FEi78) — UBE % -
paid for acquisition of property, plant and A K 52 A Y
equipment BREMREBERES 424
Non-current — rental deposits JEmE —Heke 650
42,181

TRAEEERER AR /2024 F F3H
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 19.
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
As at 1 April 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$1,400,000.

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

ESZRHEMEWKIE - RERFEF
FIE (48)

R20RF48 180 BEFENEENESE
W FRIE 5 3,331,000 78 7T °

UTARBREHRIZEZAH25 R
MEFRBALE ZRKFIA(EHRERERE
B RRER AT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

Within 30 days 30BN 9,860
31 to 60 days 31THZE60H 11,794
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 4,202
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H 7274
Over 180 days FB3E 180 H 4,697
37,827

During both years, the normal credit term of the lease receivables is
0 to 90 days upon invoice issued and the normal credit term of the
trade receivables is 0 to 90 days upon invoice issued.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$25,301,000 (2023: HK$23,863,000) which were past
due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances
as at 31 March 2024, HK$7,983,000 (2023: HK$10,726,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default as
debtors normally will settle the outstanding balances after 90 days
overdue with reference to the debtors settlement pattern. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 31.
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REZMEFE  BYEEEREN —REE
HARELBERENHOENE - MEHEIK
RIEN —REEHABLERRMOE0H -

R2024F3 4318 AEEEKAEFRIE
FEZRERVBARELEHEERERAEBEAR
25,301,000 7T (2023 £F : 23,863,000/%8 7T ) Y
FEUBRZR - RS BIRE @ A o 12024
FIA3NAE @ H 4 &R - 7,983,000 TT
(2023 % : 10,726,000 7T ) B #8190 B 8K A
FETHEERELN  BEBKERER —REE
BAo0 A B2 B REKEFR A REER
BELHR AEBUARZEERITEE
AR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 20243 A31 HIEFE

20. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/CASH AND CASH 20, BHEFRTER RERAESEE
EQUIVALENTS ¥
At 31 March 2024, bank balances and deposits carry interest of R2024F3 A31 8 » RITEBRRTFRIRE
0.01%-5.3% per annum (2023: 0.01%-0.35% per annum). F| 2 0.01%-53% (20234 : £ K| T 0.01%-
0.35%) 5t & °
At 31 March 2024, pledged bank deposit carry interest at market 202453 A31H - BEEPRITHFRIRT
rates of 0.01% per annum (2023: 0.01% per annum). 5 F K 001% (2023 F + FFE001%) &F
g .
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged IRITE R R BRI F R AR ER A
bank deposit are set out in note 31. BEERHIFE3 ©
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 21. BEERHMENRIERESER
CHARGES
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FET
Trade payables (Note a) B SN HIE (EEa) 3,949
Payables for acquisition of property, USEE I 2E - MM K R IE Y
plant and equipment (Note a) B SRR FIE (HiEa) 4,370
Accrued expenses (Note b) FERTR (FiTEDb) 8517
Other payables (Note c) HAb e 5 (M 3E o) 3,269
20,105
Notes: B E

(a) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, trade payables and other payables for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment are under normal credit
term granted by suppliers. The credit period is ranging from 0 to 540
days (2023: 0 to 180 days).

(b) As at 31 March 2024, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued
staff costs of HK$7,009,000 and provision of LSP of HK$ 1,695,000 (2023:
HK$4,979,000 and nil).

(©) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

@  M2024FEK%2023F3A31 8 BHERNK
TE R U5« M 2 SR A ) EL At FEAS 3R
BREHERIR TOESEESH - 8
BN T 0ZE 540 A (20234 : 0E180H)

(b) R2024%F3/318 EAHTTIERERE
5t B T Ak 287,009,000 7t & K R & B &
1,695,0007 7T (2023 F : 4,979,00078 7T &
) o

© MR2024F 2 2023F3 A31 8 - EMERFK
BXrERERENEXER  EHRBRHE
oA ARBHER o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 202443 A31 B L FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 21. ESRHEHMENRERESER
CHARGES (Continued) (%)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, presented based TREIE RN FTIERRE PRIRER
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: AEIZ %R BRER D 4T ¢
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days 30 HA 2,616 1,730
31 to 60 days 31THZE60H 841 1,128
61 to 90 days 61 HZ90H 414 84
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H 197 154
Over 180 days HHhiE 180 H 1,384 853
5,452 3,949
22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. BHEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HKS'000
TFHExT FHET
Relating to sales of machinery and parts ERMAR N B S E 4B 952 1,154
As at 1 April 2022, contract liabilities amounted to HK$7,965,000. R202F4H1 8 &HEER7965000%
T o
The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value as AEBBEREPEIIEE M ERRAEK
deposits from customers when it signs that sale and purchase WAHNBEMI0%Z4I0%ELEITE - 5T
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the 1 & N = B ELS M S T (4 89 50 4 4 B v
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts. R -
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22, CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 22,

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligation that were satisfied in prior periods.

EHERE®H)
TEBERORANMARZ L RBEEAD
Eﬁﬁ%&y&ﬁm%ﬁ@ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ&
18R

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

Balance at the beginning of the year FHEREE

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ~ FE S ARER WS
recognising revenue during the year that (REFAELHERE)
were included in the contract liabilities at BYREHEBERD
the beginning of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of R E i R S EER
receiving deposits in respect of sales of REeBYHAEHBEEM
machinery and parts

1,154 7,965

(7,965)

Balance at the end of the year FREGEE

DEBHEERARAR /2024 FFH 1L
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

23. BORROWINGS 23. &

2024
2024 F
HK$°000
FHBxT

Carrying amounts of borrowings that do not I 61 & 78 1% B8 TR 6K

contain a repayment on demand RIAR N3 FHEERER

clause and repayable: RIERTEE :

Within one year —FNK

More than one year but not LR —F - BRZRME
exceeding two years

More than two years but not ZIME - BAZRASE

exceeding five years

Carrying amounts of borrowings that contain £ & 78 & B 5K i% TR IE TR fE X
arepayment on demand clause (shown (RRBAEET25]) A
under current liabilities) and the maturity BREENRE R ZTETEE
analysis based on the scheduled repayment &3k B BAFT/ESIER R DT 4 -
dates set out in the loan agreements are:

Within one year —&FR 11,777
More than one year but not ZR—F  BTZHRME
exceeding two years 11,596
More than two years but not ZIME - BRZRASF
exceeding five years 13,012
36,385
39,153
Less: Amounts due within 12 months B RREBEEETE5M
shown under current liabilities 1218 A A E| AR IR (38,085)
Non-current liabilities FERBBIE 1,068
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2023
2023
HK$'000
FHET

2,215

1,340

508

4,063

6,405

7,967

16,827

31,199

35,262

(33414)

1,848
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 March 2024, included in Group's borrowings of HK$38,407,000
(2023: HKS$32,666,000) are fixed-rate borrowings carry flat interest
ranging from 1.50% to 2.45% (2023: ranging from 1.50% to 2.45%)
per annum. The Group has variable-rate borrowing of HK$746,000
(2023: HKS$2,596,000) of which HK$746,000 (2023: HK$2,422,000)
carries interest at 3.2% per annum over one-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR”) (2023: interest at 3.2% per annum
over one-month HIBOR) and nil (2023: HK$174,000) carries interest at
1% per annum below Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate. Interest is reset
every month.

The secured borrowings of HK$38,407,000 (2023: HK$31,115,000)
were secured by property, plant and equipment, deposit placed for
a life insurance policy and pledged bank deposit as disclosed in note
34.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

23.

24.

ENED

MR2024F3A31 8 AEBERNERE B
38,407,000 7T (2023 £F : 32,666,000 78 7T ) K
BEEFEER - N T 1.50% 5 2.45% (2023
F T 150%E245%) FHEET B o RNE
B M Z B B 37460007 JT(20234F :
2,596,000 7T ) JHIRF B E 320 M—EA &/
EIRITRZEREX([ERBITALEREER])
(2023 %F : FEE32% IN—1E A EERITRH
FIFE)RTHET(2023F : 174000;‘%7‘5)
TRB T EREBEMNERFEBE1%TE ° 7
BREBAEFHRE -

A & | £ 338407000 JT(20234F ¢
31,115,000 70 ) LABT sE34 AT B O M %€ -
W &G - SRABFHARE KRR
ITF ZAEH IR o

ELEHREEE AfF
RREAUBRRARNZSINE  ETE
ERBEERBBEREE - A TR
BRE = AEER AR

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#&T FETT

Deferred tax assets FEIERIAE B (138)
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIAEE 22,812
22,674
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24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

160

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during both years:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation

MERERE B

24. EEBEEE BB ®)

Tax
losses

HER

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR

At 1 April 2022 R202F4H1H8 25388
Credit to profit or loss PN (232)
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3H318 25,156
(Credit) charge to B8 (Gt A) Mk

profit or loss (Gt AE®) (2,392)

At 31 March 2024 R2024F3 A31H 22,764

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$24,886,000 (2023: HK$24,499,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$7,376,000 (2023: HK$8,813,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$17,510,000 (2023: HK$15,686,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of HK$6,476,000 (2023: HK$2,646,000) that will expire by 5 years from
the date of originating. Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.
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TET

(1,230)
(224)

(1,454)

237

(1,217)

AT RAEERMESFEAERNEEE

ECL
provision Total

BAREE

BERE Httr EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT

(689) 278 23,747
(393) (224) (1,073)

(1,082) 22,674

260 (2,029)

(822) 20,645

RBEHRR AEEBADAHEEBRE
24,886,000 78 7T (2023 £F : 24,499,00078 7C) A]
HEEALEF FERZEEESR
7,376,000 7T (2023 4F : 8,813,000 JT )
RIELETHIBEE - AREATERREF -
#0423 88 N #917,510,00078 7T (2023 £F
15,686,000 7T ) ME R IE E T 1B & = ©
6,476,000 7T (2023 F 1 2,646,000 JT ) KJ
EEREEARAERNHIESESR  RER
Z BB SFNEIER o H(th 7 TE & 18 7] £ R A7
e o
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AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) A JOINT VENTURE 25. BW(EM) SERERE
The amount due from a joint venture is arising from the sales of FEURA & 1> 3 7 SR IE T B A 55 B A A4 4 68
machinery by the Group. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and EREL - ZFBERM - 2R NREARE
repayable on 30-day after the acknowledges of the receipt of the BENSKREFERKIIHEZ30KRA
machinery by the end customer of the joint venture. Based on the BE RSP REEZAHHE - BK
invoice date at the end of the reporting period, the ageing of the AEMFEFRIENRRA30BR ©

amounts due from a joint venture is within 30 days.

Details of impairment assessment of amount due from a joint JE W & & 1 ZE TR IE B R (E AT fik 5 15 SR BT
venture is set out in note 31. 731
The amount due to a joint is non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and ERNaERRIFEBRE SIS - EIEA -
repayable on demand. RERAREREER -
LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HE&E
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEEE :
Within one year —FR 3,688
More than one year but not exceeding ~ ZR—% + BRZRME
two years 3,002
More than two years but not exceeding ~ ZRM4F » BARZRAF
five years 389
7,079
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ & : 1218 B A EI B4 E R KIA
12 months shown under current (BmaaETHIR)
liabilities (3,688)
Amount due for settlement after 12 12 16 A 1& B 845 B 69 5k 18
months shown under non-current (RIEREBAEBETIIT)
liabilities 3,391
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease HRANEEAEMNNEFHIESEER X
liabilities was 4.01% (2023: 3.79%)). #401% (2023 F : 3.79%) ©
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27.

28.

162

ISSUED CAPITAL 27. BEITRAR
Number of Share
shares capital
ROEE BR A
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SR E{E 0.001 LAY E @R
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and M202F4H18 202363 H31H
31 March 2024 5202453 A31H 10,000,000,000 10,000
Issued: B 2T -
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and M202%F 4818 20233 A31H
31 March 2024 X 202493 A31H 864,000,000 864

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme’) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors (“the
Board"’) may at its discretion grant options to eligible participants,
including: (i) any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any
trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.
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28.
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AREBBIRBEMBRENR2016F3A17H
MREERIAS FRBEEMRZREMNE
AT El (AR RES &) - BRES S A
B HEED T8 0 RS kAt Bl 5 o B
HELH AU AEEELEEMNEGE
TR o

REBRESE EFe((EEE) IR
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AEBEMESE BB HHA HEA
T-BF #ER KE-  ABAXEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z 20243 A31 HILFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company's share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
must be a business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average
closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's share on the date of grant.
The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement on
the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or
limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to 31 March 2024, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

28. URHBAEBNSR(E)

BREEBETEMRONITEESHE
EEEERBASERA - EZERTE
ERUATHEENGRSE  (RELBRE
BEAM(ZAVARERR) BRI AT
BHRERAMARBRODYETE : ()BF
REZRLARBRERNAEEXA
TR SZ P 5 A 3RE R PTMA R B AR F 19
W ENSHE R ARRROMEHA
HIE(E - (TEEFAFELETHE -

KRBT SIMEE TRHRRT - AR
PR AR B AR AR (BB @ IR B A A
HIRERT T 6 ) B REBEBERET SFR LB
B L B A e (R TR RB A o

BB E  WEEHAREBRRE
B B AT HA PR R PO AR TR BB R A T & Y R BRAT
ERERERT R E AR E B IR —RIAE °
A - EFARR DT RERIZE
B LA RBRE  EABTABIK
- RHISARR (B (BTRN) 25 H0E
EeTREaRNEEE AT BBRENR
R R REERNRR B RERE) -

BRI AE ST 21 ER 40 B HA#E = 2024 5F 3 A 31
Al WEREBEREFSREKEER
o AR A o
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024
2024 F
HK$°000
THET

138,135
6,534
21,165

165,834

206
29,534
27,937
32,023

89,700

Non-current Assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries SCIENE] E’Jﬁ;ﬁ
Loans to a subsidiary BERFT—HEWBA
Amounts due from subsidiaries J?EH&WE’& 7/79\1,5
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments TEfTFRIE

Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A B IR
Loans to a subsidiary BERT—HHEB AR
Cash and cash equivalents RERIFCEEY
Current Liability REBAE

Other payables and accrued charges

H ity JE A 50R S FE 5T B

1,400

88,300

254,134

864
253,270

Net Current Assets REBEEFE
Net Assets EEFRE
Capital and Reserves EXRfHE
Issued capital BEITIRAR
Reserves i

Total Equity ks

254,134
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29. AR BHBEMRRRTRRARQ B FE

2023
2023
HK$'000
FET

138,135
27,521
25618

191,274

202
25,220
12,696
26,722

64,840

1,460

63,380

254,654

864
253,790

254,654



29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

The followings are the movements of the Company’s reserves for

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINAN ("l /\L STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

»&F

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 20243 A31 HIEFE

29. ARAIMBRRRRARDARE

(%)

TRESIREEEARANEESD

both years:
Share Retained
premium profits Total
IR 4% 18 R T HE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FABT FAT FABT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4H1H 232,345 12,230 244,575
Profit and total comprehensive — ZAN4E[E [E738 &
income for the year ZHRXZ B - 9,215 9215
At 31 March 2023 20233 A31H 232,345 21,445 253,790
Profit and total comprehensive  ZANFF &3 71 &
income for the year FHEWEEE - 5,096 5,096
Dividend LS = (5616) (5616)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 232,345 20,925 253,270
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30.

166

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management uses short-term funding to finance its daily operation
to minimise finance costs. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues or repayment of
existing debt.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.

31. €@TH

Categories of financial instruments a. S@MIAEH
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FAET
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost SR A 113,396
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Amortised cost B SHRC AR 46,850
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. SEEAMREEBEEZERBE

The major financial instruments of the Group include trade
and other receivables, lease receivables, amount due from a
joint venture, pledged bank deposit, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, amount due to a joint
venture, rental deposits, borrowings and lease liabilities. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

REBMTZESHMTAREZE I ME
fh FEURIE - RN ESRIAE - EIRA
ERENRIE  BEARTER B
S REEFEY  BHREMERNRK
B ERNEECENHIE ek
& BREHEEE HUEFERT
B0 ERR e FET SRR (EER
BEFERE)  FERBREBE
B[R o A BE A0 ADRE I 25 R b A R
RHENTX - BEEETERERLS
[Bfg - LATER R R B EITHEE &
i

g
ERE R
REBEETRSARBEEEERNY
BEEBNUIMERHE - RitA%KE
EER SN R o RSB B AT ESNE
EHHMBR - AT BIEEERIMNER
B WA T ERERERERIN
B o
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31.

168

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

31. @I E %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREEBRBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) ™5 Ek (45)
Currency risk (Continued) B m bz (&)
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated EREEBNREARAIINETER
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective EREEREKAGEERBENT -
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
8E &
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20035 2024 F 20236
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET TET THERT THET
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE(TBE]) 4,495 497
United States dollars (“US$”) ESMAE D) 3,406 4,050
Euro (‘EUR’) BT ([8e ) 1,117 139
Singapore dollars (“SGS$") shnsg o (TE g T l) 886 2
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5%
increase and decrease in foreign currencies against the
relevant functional currencies of the respective group entities.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the
relevant currencies strengthen 5% against relevant functional
currencies of the respective group entities. For a 5%
weakening of the relevant currencies against the relevant
functional currencies of the respective group entities, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.
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TRAVAKEHEKEBRINES
BN EEER LT KT 5%H)
HRE - -SHRABAEZEEEA
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x o RIRETE B HE KT sEE EAORY
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

31. @I E %)

JPY against HKS HEX AT
EUR against HKS BRI A AT
SGS against HKS N T AT

cREREEEERBEKR(E)
TS EE ()
Ermb ()
BRE DT (48)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
167
41
37

For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS,
since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to pledged bank deposit, fixed rate trade payables, fixed-rate
borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see note 20 for details) and variable-rate bank
borrowings (see note 23 for details). The Group cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on bank balances and HIBOR arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings. The
management will take appropriate measures to manage
interest rate exposure if interest rate fluctuates significantly.
The management considers the fair value interest rate risk to
the Group is insignificant.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, management monitors the Group's
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.

MAERTRENEBEERAREN
F - BB A ATERETTHEE - BIE
BRABEXRKBI AEKX - FL I &
FRTTRER A M WK REINE &
REDHT

Tl 7 Bz

RNEEAEREREEARITFR - @
EAMEE ZRENFIE - BIENEER
LHEABEERN AR ERN @R -
RNEE IR ANE Y BIRTTAERR (FF
& R 20) ROF B RITER(FIE
RMEE23) EERRESRA KRR -
REFER @ RMNEEREZETNER
ITHER TR R AL E B TEHER S
HAEEARNBRBRITRAERSERK
B o IR AIEKEY - BIRE LR
HEHEEENXRR - ERERS
REEHAARBENERRI TEK o

RE BN AT SR R E S 493K
EREMERNTAENITESRT

B A EREEREAEEMNEA
MRER - AR EREREBEHNE

R 2R By o
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and bank
borrowings. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the interest rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range. The directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risks
arising from bank balances and bank borrowings are
insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, lease
receivables, amount due from a joint venture, rental deposits,
pledged bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit grading system to
assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and grading attributed to
customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the credit-impaired amount of lifetime
ECL of lease receivables and trade receivables based on
individual assessment whereas the remaining balance are
assessed by grouping of various debtors that have similar risk
exposure, after considering internal grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables with reference to ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status. Estimated losses are
based on historical observed default and are adjusted for
forward-looking information, such as the external credit
agency's expectation on the macro-economic condition, that
is reasonable and supportable and available without undue
costs or effort. In view of the decrease in default rate, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

Amount due from a joint venture

The directors of the Company continuously monitor the credit
quality and financial positions of the counterparties and the
level of exposure to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover the debts. As at 31 March 2024, the directors of the
Company assess that amount due from a joint venture is not
yet past-due, and thus the ECL allowance for theses
receivables measured under lifetime ECL method is
insignificant.

31. €@ T A (®)

b.

THEREEREREEE)
FERBRRRERE(E)
KEEFEXE SN EREN
HEFE

REERVEERR  AEENERE
BEZkEKEEEEEERERE
BERA - EERMEFFES,A > A%
BEAABEEFDHEHEEER
FHEEEEYREESNEER
B BPRIERBRGAIBFHEE
B - HAbBEHE 2 RAIZF PARERERER
RETHREMBREY - 290 A%
B R EREERIFE - et
EFENE S REGIRN 2 MERE
EERRESE  MHRTERRAEE
BRI E IR KB PR IRN A
MoOBA(KE2ERK  ERLH
R/ S@EARN) % - HABRUE
Bk O O = 28 B AR SE T 0 AL T Y
fl o AT EBRDRIBATEERINE
MEFTESH - URATEEEREL
HE - PN EERBEE RBS R
RRWIEH - ZEEHREEREE
BEEFNHTIUENERLBHE
RS - ERENETRE - ARAE
ERRAKENEERBRBEZERD -

JEWE & EFIE
RAREFRBEERRFHFNEE
BERUERR R EREREKTE - LA
WREDRBETHREGEH - HE
20243 A31 8 AR RIESFHE
WA EEEMFIER RS - BAtiR
B EEEEBETATENZS
ERRENTEREEBBRET T E
j( °
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Rental deposits and other receivables

For rental deposits and other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and rental deposits were insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposit and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposit and
bank balances by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on
pledged bank deposit and bank balances are considered to be
insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 87%
(2023: 95%) of the lease receivables and trade receivables as at
31 March 2024.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 11% (2023: 12%)
and 34% (2023: 46%) of the lease receivables and trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the industry of
the property and infrastructure construction.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

b.

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Pledged bank deposit and bank balances (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

31.

€@ E(E)
b. “REARE

BEERBEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
ERAFFRITIFARRTAE (B)

AEBERAREERR
BBIEA TR

I

SHEATROF

Internal Trade receivables/ Other
credit grading Description lease receivables financial assets
g5 REKRE
KA EERR RE FEWEE A Hitem&EE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
1K B HAENRRK - BRAFEERIE FHRBEEEFE — NEAEHRGEERR
W EEERE
Watchlist Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
usually settle in full not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
i BEBALEREMARERN  BBEEH FHRBEERE — 2HRRESEE—
S W EEERE W EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired
B8 BRBENEECEENE FHRHEERE — 2HRBESEE—
EERE EERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
35 ERBETEEARNRENBRE - A  SBOME SR M

EBETE

=S

X AJ g B SRR HO I 22
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. @@TREW®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMBEEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRFMBAASEFENAEESH
financial assets under the Group’s assessment, which are BEEERBAE (ZEEEEE
subject to ECL assessment: FHEARIR)

External Internal

credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
R2EARHEEBERN2H
HBEETR ABEETR HAEGEES EEAE

HK$'000  HK$'000
TER  TER

Financial assets at amortised cost

RBERATIENSHEE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
2HRMEERE
BHRKHIE — R THHE (EEEERE)
Credit-impaired
BE FERE
Lease receivables (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
2HRBEERR
FERE A (M) (EEEEHE)
Loss Credit-impaired
BE RERE
Amount due from a joint venture N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
REARLEESR
A EENTIE TER R (EEEERE)
Rental deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL
Heke TER 1E Rk NREARBEEEE
Pledged bank deposit LEE] N/A 12m ECL
EERRITER Aa3 TER REARBEEEE
Bank balances Ba2orabove  N/A 12m ECL
RITESR Ba2 A\ L ~ER REARHEESR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

»ﬁﬁ
31. @I E %)
b. rREAKRE

FERBRRRERE(E)

BEERBEE)

External Internal
2023 Notes  credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
|  REARMEEERSRH
203 % s AMBEETR ANEETR EHEEER FEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHRATIRNERER
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts 19 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 2955
S HRBEEEE
BHRMTIE — MR RS HEE TER i) (TEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 63 3018
B FERE
Lease receivables 19 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 40,229
HRHEEER
FE e E700R @R ipa) (TEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 11,579 51,808
Ei EERE
Rental deposits 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 650 650
Heke @R BRI RERBHEERE
Pledged bank deposit 20 Aa3 N/A 12mECL 360 360
EERRTER Aa3 el REARSREEER
Bank balances 20 Ba2 or above N/A 12m ECL 74,559 74,559
RITE Ba2 gk L NEm REARSEEEE
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) EWMIE
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. SRIEMEEBEERBEE®E)
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
Note: For lease receivables and trade receivables, the Group has et : EWEERERE SRR IET

applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by
grouping these items by similar risk exposure, after considering,
repayment history, and/or past due status. There are two
internal grouping named as Class A and Class B respectively.
The receivables in Class A are customers usually settles within
one year after due date and Class B are customers usually repay
one year after due date.

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for lease receivables and trade receivables which
are assessed based on the collective assessment as at 31 March
2024 by lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with gross

FARBECEBEEMBIREE
AIFRE T BT XA ERE
HEHEEFENEBEERE - BE
AR EHNEBA  REBEBEE
BEF SR HEMOR - A
BREURRBROETSIE - KEE
ERRENBHERER - EM(E
AR #80 BT S ASE R Ko BRERI
ASE R P B I U R B S FE B
Hi&s—FR&E MBEMNEFAE
BEEHE —FREN -

TREHRBHAEVEAERERES
FEYRENEERRBHRONEES
ABREBIRN2024FE3 /31 BME
HREHEEEE (WESERE)E

carrying HK$11,924,000 (2023: HK$11,642,000) as at 31 March TEBBTE - M2024F3A318 -

2024 were assessed individually by lifetime ECL (credit- BR T 4 8 5 5l /11,924,000 T

impaired). (2023 %F : 11,642,000 7T ) ) [iE IR
RRFVE(E R 2 BT BR S B S IERT A ©

BR AR AR AR

Gross carrying amount for balances
Trade
receivables
from sales of

machinery Lease

and parts receivables

R E R

SHHEEDN

FTHEFEREE BEIZEWRFIE

HKS'000

FET

Average
loss rate

Internal grouping

REBEEFR FE WK 38 & =R IR
HK$'000

THETT

39,269

2023
2023

Class A 9% 150 30,321 30471
ASER

Class B 20% 2,805 9,908 12,713
BEERI

2,955 40,229 43,184
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for lease receivables and trade
receivables under the simplified approach.

SRTEE®)

b. ¢HREMEEEERIEE®)
S e RO E T (458)
BB ET 45 ()

EETBRXREBEERIMNEHX
R YR KA TRET F BT - AR
ﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁi%ﬂﬁﬂ‘ﬂ% )
AIEMEEREITRE - DABREE
BB iR - ARERE B E R
R ER AR E#

TR B AR BB 5
HOBIRIER(L AN 2 BRI
BEBED -

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
ZHITEH
FEEER

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)

2HEY

FEER
(FERE) #et
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAT

(EREE
RAE)
HK$'000
T

At 1 April 2022

R2022%4H818

Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE
Impairment losses recognised ERERBIERSE
Impairment losses reversed B R EIRERE
New financial assets originated 1% & B & E

At 31 March 2023

R2023F3 A31H

Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE
Impairment losses recognised ERRRERE
Impairment losses reversed RECAENREY SFi=!
New financial assets originated ~ ¥Ti&&REEE

At 31 March 2024

R2024F3H31H

3,576
(2,189)
1,857
(1,188)
3,301

5,357
(267)
923

(5,413)
2,798

3,398

9,478
2,189

(307)
282

11,642
267
502

(785)
298

11,924

13,054

1,857
(1,495)
3,583

16,999
1,425

(6,198)
3,096

15,322

TREABHEERARAR/2024FFH |
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 20243 A31 BIEF/E

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. @TREW®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMBEEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued) FREER AR E 4B 5E ()
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables and lease B 5 k1A & I & R IR S 1B
receivables are mainly due to: HEHEEHRN

Increase (decrease)

in lifetime ECL

ZHFEHEEEEIE M ORL)

Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired

W EEERE FERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT THT

2024 2024

Trade debtors aged within 1 year with  EFtEWHEERERE 5 EWKGKTE
a gross amount of HK$51,243,000 MR 4B(E 51,243,000 B TTHY

recognised allowance for lease and RIS —FANE ZEKIRR
trade receivables

Trade debtors aged over 1 year but not = it fE UL T & 7118 & Z 5 FE Wk
credit-impaired with a gross carrying T 52 8% 8 BR T 48 111,696,000 /%TE
amount of HK$ 1,696,000 recognised KRB —FRIEESERE

allowance for lease and trade HE SRR
receivables

Trade debtors transferred to credit- s 2 AR T 48 B 769,000 /B TTHY
impaired with a gross carrying amount  {EEJREE 5 BRI
of HK$769,000

Trade debtors assessed as credit- HREZERRANEER
impaired with a gross carrying B 5 FE W R TR B4 FE W BR R OR
amount of HK$769,000 recognised H#818769,0008 TLH{E BB
allowance for lease and trade Z S EWIRK
receivables

Settlement in full of trade debtors with &8 4575 BRI 4818 52,361,000 76 TTHY
a gross carrying amount of =Y E N
HKS$52,361,000 (5,413)

178 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL
ZE AR

W

For the year ended 31

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued)

31.
b.

BT

STATEMENTS
5 e 22 Bt 5

March 2024 & Z 202453 31 BILFE

E-/J

=\ ’=‘/

TREMEERBRRBE(E

FERBRRRERE(E)
ERER AR EI AR AR (BB

Increase (decrease)

in lifetime ECL
S HIEEEEBEL M ORD)
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
W EEERE SERE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
2023 2023 F
Trade debtors aged within 1 yearwitha B HEWAERBRE 5 EKRFIE
gross amount of HK$35,849,000 T SR B 88 48.(E. 35,849,000 & T HY
recognised allowance for lease and IR A —FANE S EBIER
trade receivables 3,301 282
Trade debtors aged over 1yearbutnot B FLEWAERBE R E 5 EKGIE
credit-impaired with a gross carrying R E R 4218 16,788,000 8 7T
amount of HK$16,788,000 recognised 7 ﬁE‘rE BE—FETEEERE
allowance for lease and trade K E 5 EUER K
receivables 1,857 -
Trade debtors transferred to credit- 2 3 2 AR T 421H. 2,189,000 78 TT BY
impaired with a gross carrying amount S EJR{EE 5 EUERK
of HK$2,189,000 (2,189) 2,189
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a &2 455 BR [E1 4818 31,422,000 76 7T HY
gross carrying amount of HK$31,422,000 & 5 B EREX (1,188) (307)

TEBHEERERDA/2024FFH 179



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
F INANCIAL STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 202443 A31 B L FE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

180

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

Liquidity risk analysis
Weighted
average
interest rate
i
FiF=
%
31 March 2024 2024538318
Non-derivative financial liabilities  FEAT4 £ BB E
Trade and other payables B REMEMNFE
Borrowings &
Amount due to a joint venture EN—FAErENTE
Other item A
Lease liabilties HERRE

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024

On

demand or
less than

1year
SR1EF
% HK$000
TR

24,829
38,085
420

3,484

66,818

THMIAR@®)

b.

1to2
years

12
HK$'000
TER

TRAREERFEREE )

BE S E R

BRBETARNEEMNS - A%E
ERMMREREERREANERE R
ReSEWKFARREENEELR
HES  WRERSREBNTE -

TRAVAKEIFTES R A BN
TAMNEEA - BRZBEAEEA
GESSENEN- SR AR E S
BRARSRARE - RBME - 8
BRBREFGFNERERERES
MERARIA - THwiR1TA Z A8
BETERSOEN - RMOTES
BEEMNIBENBEERBHRSE
% o

REBE L BRI

Total
undiscounted

More
than
2years

Carrying
cash flows amounts
KERRS
REAH
HK$'000

TR

B E
HK$'000
THR

REE
HK$'000
TET

24,829 24,829
39,185 39,153
420 420

3,885 3,519

68,319 67,921



31.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINAN (*1 -\L STATEMENTS
G R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &%= 202443 31 HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

b.

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

»‘/]?

31. @I E %)
cRERE

ﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁwﬁ( &)

BEERBEE)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) MEEZER ST ()
On
Weighted demand or More Total
average less than 1102 than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years 2 years cash flows amounts
illf3 e REARS
FF|= Nk 126 BRE MELE FEE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
% FHL THL TAT FET THT
31 March 2023 2023%3A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FEfT4 BB &
Trade and other payables B o REMENTIE - 11,588 - - 11,588 11,588
Borrowings & 213 36,266 1,340 508 38114 35,262
Otheritem HttEH
Lease liabilities HERE 379 3885 3,060 390 7335 7079
51,739 4400 898 57,037 53929
The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause i B EAE DT [ Eskak D1 4E |

are included in the “On demand or less than 1 year” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2024, the carrying
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$36,385,000

(2023: HK$30,877,000).

BRI BEAEEEE AR E K
BRI B 3 o 1202443 A 31
H - It % 1& 38 BR E 3 436,385,000
75 7T (2023 4F : 30,877,000 7T) °
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. EMIAEW®

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREEBRBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)
Taking into account the Group'’s financial position, the
directors do not believe that it is probable that the
counterparties will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the

REBESRK ()

REE LR DT (&)
KERAEBVBMRIE  EFEE
RHAPARARITREENHIEER
KA RS - EERERFEIER
BERBBEATEERAHEE -
BRAFBHNTX

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,

details of which are set out in the table below:

Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates
MBI — FEARERBRENX
REBFETEN R PHER
Total
undiscounted
1to2 cash

years

2to5
years

Less than Carrying

outflows amounts

IR
RESRH
HK$'000

one year

DPR1E
HK$'000

1-25
HK$'000

2-5F
HK$'000

SREE
HK$'000

TAT

31 March 2024 20243 A31H 12,992

31 March 2023 202383 A31H 9,026

TAT

12,331

7,967

TR TAET

TAET

13,343 38,666 36,385

16,827 33,820 31,199

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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32. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

All of the plant and machinery held by the Group for rental purposes
have committed lessees for the next three years.

Undiscounted lease payment receivable on leases are as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &% 202443 A 31 B IEFE

32, KREHFEZRH
REEAHBAA

HAERK=FHEBEA -

ERMESHEUCRRBEENZTNT ¢

AEEFAHNIARAREEH RS R

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Within one year —F X 3,600 5,058
In the second year F_F 125 332
In the third year F=F 94 181
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BXEE
pLip2 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BEFTHERNERE B HRE
acquisition of property, plant and SHRBER B - M X
equipment contracted for but not RENEARFAX
provided in the consolidated statement
of financial statements 19,754 13,051

DREBHEERAR AR /2024 FFH 18
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A BB AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E 202443 A31 B L FE

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEEH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure RMEMREERTRITERTEB MR
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the REREREERRNEENT

reporting period:

2024 2023

2024 2023

HK$'000 HKS$'000

THExT FHT

Property, plant and equipment MNEE - M KRR 4,519 4416
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy EMRIREFHR 3,047 2,983

Pledged bank deposit EHEIRRITIFHK 360 360

7,926 7,759
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Other than as disclosed elsewhere, during the year the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties in which
some directors have beneficial interests:

35.

A Ashareholder

joint
venture

of the
Company

4E0% ADA-2ER
HK$'000
7

HK$'000
S
Interest expenses FER%
Purchase of motor vehicle BERE
Placement of rental deposit KMffeEe
Short-term lease expenses RHRERY
Purchase of machinery EEHH
Revenue from leasing equipment HERENR
Operating lease expenses inrespectof — BEREMHA
leasing machinery BEHERX
Installation charge ZEE
Expenses paid on behalf of joint venture ~ RXA SR EX
HER

Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position and related notes.

The Company’s key management personnel are the directors and
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in
note 11. The remunerations of a close family member of the directors
are included in the highest paid employees disclosed in note 11.

BARK T M E
M EL At B 3 FT B B & S -

MAFE » K&

BEETEFHABESESAB I RIL

THRS :

Arelated
company

in which

Mr. Lau

Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan

Kit Mui, Lina
have beneficial
interest
[
RERRZE
rTEREE
BRI
BB
HK$'000
FHER

BT BRI A

R -

2023

W03F
A close family Ashareholder
member of the of the
Directors Company
BEX-2iH ARA-ERE
HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
= 109
470 -

B OR R R AR I

ARAMNEREREABREST  MEF
BB & 5t AMTRE 11 PTIREE BN - = —
ZARBOMEFT AN TN AR EN RS H

TRAEEERER AR /2024 F F3H
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 2024 F3 A31 HILFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

RETBELENEBEYHK

TRIBASBEEAREEZDELNEESR
BHE BERREMFRSEE - BER
BELNABEREERSREIRKRE

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's MEEIBRAEELGABHERERT S
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARESEHMERETENAE -
activities.
Other Loans
payable- froma
Dividend interest related Lease
payable bearing Borrowings company liabilities Total
RE—H
st EHA ) NG|
BEARE  ENARE R ZER HEAE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET TAT FAL FAEL
A1 April 2022 R202E4A1H - 7,029 27,695 2829 3438 40991
Financng cashflows ~ BERERE - (7,138) 6,294 (2,829) (4,143) (7816)
Finance costs REMKA - 109 1273 - 166 1,548
New lease entered HEIEE - - - - 8,445 8,445
Exchange realignment & X, 5% - - - - (827) (827)
At31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H - - 35,262 - 7,079 42341
Financing cash flows BRERSGNE (5616) = 2431 = (3.871) (7,056)
Dividend declared BEEIRRE 5616 = = = 5616
Finance costs RE KA = = 1,460 = 196 1,656
New lease entered EHE - - = = 230 230
Exchange realignment  [E 5 ;A% - - - - (115) (115)
At 31 March 2024 MR2024%3 A31H = = 39,153 = 3519 42672

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 EE 20243 A31 BIEFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 and 31

March 2023 were as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

HEAREE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operation

ML/
B/ BEnE

Issued and

fully paid
ordinary

share capital/
registered capital
BEARAR
EERE/
AfRA

Directly

AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited
AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited

AP Rentals Limited

SEAREERAR

AP Equipment Leasing and
Engineering Limited
SRARKEERIR
BRAF

AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd.

AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd,

AP Rentals China (BVI) Holdings
Limited

AP Rentals China (BV)) Holdings
Limited

British Virgin Islands
ERRAES

Hong Kong

B

Macau

AP

Singapore

s

British Virgin Islands

EBRAES

Us$2
VEI

HK$27,378,000

273780007 7C

MOP25,000

2500029 7T

5GD100,000

100,000 7 03¢ 7T

Uss2

WET

37. MIBARIFE

NEHIBARFBNOT

Equity interests

M2024E3 A31 8 R2023E3 /310 &

Trading and leasing of equipment,
provision of lease related operating
and other related services

BERMERE  REAERED
BE R RBIRT

Investment holding

RERR

TRAEEERER AR /2024 F F3H

attributable to the Group Principal activities
REBELRRE TEEH
Indirectly
Ef 5E3
2023
0BEF
- Investment holding
REER
100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing of
equipment, and provision of leased
related operating and other related
services
RERR BERBERE
DA RERHE ERBRIER
E AR
100%  Leasing of equipment
RE&E
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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37. B RFE®)

Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ ordinary
registration/ share capital/ Equity interests
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEATRAR
AL/ LKL/
HWEARER B/ EEny R REBELRE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B i
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F EEVUSESN 2024F [MSES
AP Power Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of mobile electricity supplies
and solutions and relevant commodities
and accessories and short-term leasing
of equipment
DEAENERAR &E 1000077 RETDHIRBASE
I RiAERmERY -
NREHRER
AP Rentals (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
TRANE(HE)ERAR BF 10000787 REER
AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited* ~ The PRC 1S$2,100,000 - 100%  Leasing of equipment
DRAEZRIREM(LE) E 2,100000% 7T HERHE
ARARA
AP Equipment Solutions Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing of
equipment and provision of leased
related operating and other related
services
TRARGHFERAT  FE 1000077 RERR EEREERE -
ARG ERBARIER
E AR

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the reporting period.

* The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024
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